
 
 

 

 

 

Christchurch Replacement District Plan 
 

 

 

CHAPTER 14: 
RESIDENTIAL (PART) 

 
 

 

 

 

 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 

 

 

 
 
 

Heard at: Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue 
 348 Manchester Street, Christchurch 

 
 
Date: Commenced 31 March 2015 

 
 

Hearing Panel: Sir John Hansen 
 Judge John Hassan 
 Sarah Dawson 

 Dr Phil Mitchell 
 Mr John Sax 



APPEARANCES 
DAY 4 – 02 APRIL 2015 
 
 

<MARK TEESDALE, affirmed ................................................. [9.35 am] ................................. 443 

<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH........................................... [9.35 am] ................................. 444 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW .................................................. [9.43 am] ................................. 447 

<MR PAUL JOHN COMMONS, sworn ..................................... [10.03 am]............................... 455 

<EXAMINATION BY MS SEMPLE .......................................... [10.03 am]............................... 456 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT .................................. [10.17 am]............................... 460 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW .................................................. [10.48 am]............................... 474 

<MAURICE RICHARD DALE, affirmed ................................... [10.48 am]............................... 474 

<EXAMINATION BY MS SEMPLE .......................................... [10.49 am]............................... 475 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW .................................................. [11.12 am]............................... 484 

<YVONNE LEGARTH, affirmed  ............................................. [11.12 am]............................... 485 

<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH........................................... [11.12 am]............................... 486 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW .................................................. [11.18 am]............................... 488 

<CHRISTOPHER MICHAEL EDWARD GREGORY, affirmed... [11.18 am]............................... 489 

<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT ............................................. [11.19 am]............................... 490 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH ............................... [11.24 am]............................... 492 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW .................................................. [11.42 am]............................... 499 

<ALISTAIR ROSS GORDON HUMPHREY, affirmed ................ [11.50 am]............................... 499 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW .................................................. [12.14 pm]............................... 509 
 



EXHIBITS 

 

Exhibit #7 – Residential Development Criteria – Stage 2x4 Maps ...................... 45 

 
 



 Page 443 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

DAY 4 – 02 APRIL 2015 
 

  [9.33 am] 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Yes, Ms Semple? 5 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Sir, I think Mr Radich had some matters discussed in the 

mediation to deal with from yesterday first. 

 

MR RADICH:   Your Honour, members of the Panel, you directed and we 10 

have now managed to collate the maps that show the - - - 

 

SJH:   Is this the Boffa Miskell maps? 

 

MR RADICH:   The Boffa Miskell maps, sir.  Now there are four of them and 15 

they really require just a very brief explanation, I wonder if either now 

or at an appropriate time Mr Teesdale could do that, I know we are on a 

tight schedule. 

 

SJH:   Do it now. 20 

 

MR RADICH:   I think it would just help to have him explain to you, if I could 

call Mr Teesdale, please.   

 

 I wonder if we can do that, Mr Teesdale might be sworn briefly so we 25 

can collate it and that way we can get on with it.  We will do the 

collation, he should be sworn in and I will just ask him a question or 

two as we start. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Sir, if I may approach first? 30 

 

SJH:   Michelle, just swear the witness in and the Council can sort this out.  It 

should have been sorted out when it arose.  

 

<MARK TEESDALE, affirmed [9.35 am] 35 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [9.35 am] 

 

MR RADICH:   Now your full name is Mark Sutherland Teesdale? 

 

MR TEESDALE:   Correct. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   And you have given evidence previously in this hearing? 

 

MR TEESDALE:   Correct. 

 10 

MR RADICH:   Mr Teesdale, we are just collating and we are going to have 

you produce four maps.  Just as that is happening can you please 

explain in a general sense what it is the maps show and how they have 

been produced? 

 15 

MR TEESDALE:   Firstly, apologies, I did not expect I would be talking today 

so I have no tie on, sir, but the maps were prepared at the time with the 

GIS modelling which was made up of data largely collected from 

Christchurch City Council.   

 20 

 The four maps I will produce today kind of illustrate the current 

medium density zonings, the proposed medium density zonings in 

chapter 14 and the locational criteria qualifying areas, if you like.  And 

when you get a copy of those I will explain the different layers that we 

have included on the four maps.  I guess it is to give you a better idea 25 

of some of the questioning that you had over the last few days around 

the extent of areas and fieldwork.   

 

MR RADICH:   Can I ask you one question and your Honour will forgive me, 

and the Council will object if need be if I lead slightly but are these 30 

maps in any way a reflection of anyone’s recommendation about where 

zoning is or are they a set of reference points based upon data input? 

 

MR TEESDALE:   This is just purely that output of the data, not any 

recommendation or beyond that.  It is simply what the combination of 35 

the data sets produces. 

 

MR RADICH:   Once you input it? 

 

MR TEESDALE:   Yes. 40 

 

MR RADICH:   Okay, thank you.  I think the Panel have the maps now.  

 

SJH:   They are stapled together so we only need to do them as one exhibit, 

Mr Radich.   45 

 



 Page 445 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

EXHIBIT #7 – RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT CRITERIA – STAGE 

2 x 4 MAPS 

 

MR TEESDALE:   So the first map you will see has four colours of yellow and 

orange, if you would like.  The first being the current living three 3 5 

zone, as zoned, and the way this map is being generated is each of these 

as represented in the hierarchy sits on top of each other, so there clearly 

will be some overlap from one another but they will be obscured based 

on that hierarchy.  So then the second, the brighter orange, if you like, 

is the proposed zonings in chapter 14.   10 

 

 The two orange colours which represent areas that conform to the 

agreed locational criteria but it distinguishes that underlying zone of RS 

or RSDT by which they sit.  I guess I should qualify there that 

primarily the bottom three - the CCC propose and the locational criteria 15 

overlap.  Clearly the L3 areas do not necessarily conform to the 

locational criteria themselves, so just based on what historic method.  

The overlay of the purple then the wastewater constraints is tabled on 

the maps behind me.   

 20 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, and then the second map? 

 

MR TEESDALE:   If I take you to the second map it relates to those same 

breakdown of areas but with Mr Schellekens’ preferred filter of 

commercial constraints applied to it, which identifies the blue sites 25 

which would be seen to, I guess, address those.   

 

 Sir, the person who prepared these maps was away yesterday originally 

and we do have the ability to show these blue sites essentially across 

the entire urban boundary, they have been clipped to essentially the 30 

four orange and yellows currently, but if it was of assistance we could 

further generate it across the city. 

 

  [9.40 am] 

 35 

MR RADICH:   And then the third map? 

 

MR TEESDALE:   The third map refers to the chapter 14 extents in the yellow, 

the proximity criteria in the green and an overlay of the dashed area to 

highlight the notified version of the Plan relative to those. 40 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you, and then the fourth map? 

 

MR TEESDALE:   The fourth map I guess is the basis for most of the other 

maps in terms of how I talk through the build-up of these areas.  And 45 

just to clarify, as I explained before, if we adjusted the order of these, 
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they would probably overlap in slightly different ways as well, so I 

hope that is of assistance. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you very much, thank you, your Honour. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I have just got one distinct question to get my head around.  

Perhaps the last map. Can you just explain to me what the orange 

colourations mean please? I can understand the yellow. 10 

 

MR TEESDALE:  The orange colouration, so the lighter orange if you like, we 

have applied the agreed locational criteria as I have tabled in my 

evidence prior, that would be the areas that would conform to that 

which reside in the proposed chapter 14 as RS zoning. So that currently 15 

in chapter 14, that would be RS zoning, so that is the ones, and the 

darker orange below that would be the ones that conform - - -  

 

DR MITCHELL:   Transition depths. 

 20 

MR TEESDAKE: - - - to the same area but sit into that zone, we are trying to 

distinguish between what sits underneath. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So are you familiar with the proposed policy 14.1.1.1A, I 

think it is? 25 

 

MR TEESDALE:   It is relative, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So when you say conforms to the criteria in your evidence, 

that is - - - 30 

 

MR TEESDALE:  Yes, Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - closely equivalent? 

 35 

MR TESSDALE:   Yes, I guess I turn them criteria and craft it in that way 

Sandra McIntyre, Ms McIntyre has transferred them into a policy. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. 

 40 

MR TEESDALE:   So on the basis that she has done that the same way I dealt 

with that system. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And the areas that would conform with that policy that are 

currently zoned one of those two zones? 45 
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MR TEESDALE:   And clearly there would be areas of the RMD CCC 

proposed that would fit that too, it would take the large amount I would 

imagine, but because of the layer of these, they actually sit underneath. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and just to make it clear, what you said about the 5 

buildings. So the location of buildings greater than 35 years old and 

with their relevant land value ratio. It is only showing the ones that are 

in these yellow and orange zones? 

 

MR TEESDALE:   Correct, yes. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   There could be others throughout the city but you have 

clipped them to that? 

 

MR TEESDALE:   Yes, and particularly because the tactical person who 15 

prepared these was away yesterday and I would suggest they would be 

able to do that if you need to - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is fine, I just wanted to understand.  Thank you, very 

much.  20 

 

MR RADICH:   Just about to say, sir, we could have that produced when the 

person who is able to do it - - - 

 

SJH:   I am not sure it is necessary at this stage.  If it is thought necessary later 25 

on, we will request it. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, your Honour. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is all thank you. 30 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax. 

 

MR SAX:   No thanks, Mr Chairman.   

 35 

SJH:   Thank you Mr Teesdale, anything from you, Mr Radich? 

 

MR RADICH:   No, thank you, your Honour. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [9.43 am] 40 

 

SJH:   Ms Semple. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, sir.  Good morning, members of the Panel. I 

understand that you have some brief opening submissions in front of 45 

you.  I do not propose to go through them in any particular detail.   
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 I have set out there at the beginning the fact that our higher order 

documents, as we call them, are quite clear about the importance of the 

recovery of housing stock and particularly social housing. 

 5 

 And Housing New Zealand is the major provider of social housing in 

the city with some 6,000 units accommodating about 20,000 people.  

As Mr Commons will tell you, 95 percent of that stock was damaged in 

the earthquakes, and that has already been identified by the Panel in the 

Strategic Directions chapter. 10 

 

 The Land Use Recovery Plan was also very cognisant of the issues 

facing the Corporation in respect of its social housing stock, and I set 

out there at paragraph 7 some commentary from the Land Use 

Recovery Plan which identifies that the Corporation’s pre earthquake 15 

stock was increasingly unsuited to the needs of its relevant 

communities, and as such, there is now a significant opportunity to 

improve the overall amenity of these areas by repairing and rebuilding 

social and community housing and to provide more effectively for the 

needs of vulnerable people.  20 

 

  [9.45 am] 

 

 Mr Commons will talk more about that in his evidence, but essentially 

the Corporation’s aspirations are not simply to replace the stock that 25 

was lost, but to reconfigure that to more appropriately meet the needs 

of its current tenants. 

 

 In paragraph 10, I identify the mechanisms that the Land Use Recovery 

Plan inserted to facilitate the urgent replacement of that social housing 30 

stock and those included the EDM, the CHRM, the removal of age 

restriction on the elder persons housing units and the ability to place 

two units on sites that had previously housed only one, the so-called 

two for one mechanism. 

 35 

 The Corporation’s involvement in the Crown’s submission has 

principally been to ensure that those mechanisms were translated 

appropriately into the Replacement Plan and also to consider and 

comment on any new mechanisms that may have been included to 

facilitate social housing. 40 

 

 Now, I have set out there at paragraph 14 and following, some very 

minor matters where the Council and the Corporation remained at odds 

and in fact, are not even so much at odds now subject to Mr Blair’s 

concessions a couple of days ago. 45 
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 I have set them out there.  I do not propose to go through them.  There 

is only one matter, if I could direct you to paragraph 20 which relates to 

site coverage.  

 

 Mr Dale has drafted an alternative provision which would resolve that 5 

issue from the Corporation’s perspective, and I was aware yesterday in 

your discussion with my friend, Ms Scott, about the prospect of a 

revised version of the provisions being developed, and I wondered if, at 

the close of these submissions, I might just talk with you a little further 

about the process to achieve that and the role that the Corporation 10 

might play in that.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   If I could turn then to perhaps what has become the more 15 

vexed question for the Corporation, and that is really the effectiveness 

of the mechanisms that have been included in the LURP and now in the 

Replacement Plan, and particularly the effectiveness of the social 

housing or community housing specific development mechanism, the 

CHRM. 20 

 

 Since the Crown’s submission was filed, it has become clear that there 

may be an issue with the effectiveness of the CHRM in delivering the 

outcome set out in the LURP. 

 25 

 And if I could just take you through. Section 4.4 of the LURP sets out 

matters relating to infrastructure provision. Now, importantly in my 

submission at section 4.4.1, the LURP records that the provisions in 

this Recovery Plan for intensification and greenfield development, have 

been designed to be achievable within current and planned 30 

infrastructure capacity. 

 

 However, as set out in the evidence of Mr Commons, the Corporation 

is becoming aware that intensification within the CHRM areas may 

well not be within current or planned infrastructure. 35 

 

 In addition the Corporation is experiencing some difficulty in gaining 

an accurate understanding of the extent of infrastructure constraint that 

may apply to the CHRM areas.  And that is outside of the identified 

Riccarton interceptor constraint which is clearly shown on the LURP 40 

planning maps in respect of the CHRM. 

 

 Ms O’Brien’s evidence and her answers to questions have provided 

some further information but still do not answer the question as to 

when and how these areas might be fully serviced.  What is clear, and I 45 

would say is relatively new information to the Corporation, is that at 
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least for the Wairakei-Greers CHRM, I think we often refer to it as 

Bryndwr, all of the areas that Ms O’Brien has analysed which is about 

half of that area, have no normal sewer capacity. 

 

 Now, Mr Gregory may be able to provide us with some more answers 5 

and clarity on this issue although his rebuttal evidence does not achieve 

that for the Corporation. 

 

 There are some provisions within the Replacement Plan which may 

provide an offset, if you like, for the loss of the CHRM areas if indeed 10 

that is what ultimately occurs or at least in the short to medium term.  

 

  [9.50 am] 

 

 As set out in Mr Dale’s evidence, social and multi-unit residential 15 

complexes are enabled in the residential suburban and residential 

suburban density transition zones, and these are in addition to the 

opportunities that were otherwise provided through those LURP 

interventions. 

 20 

 Those provisions do not however, are not like for like, they do not 

provide the same outcome or process advantages that the CHRM 

provides. Specifically they do not provide the same certainty of process 

in terms of non-notification, and nor do they provide the same 

flexibility or advantage in built form standards. 25 

 

 As such it seems likely, and I do accept it is not entirely clear, that 

there is overall some loss of enablement towards achieving the 

outcomes the LURP envisages for social housing. 

 30 

 It is accepted that his Panel has no jurisdiction to resolve matters of 

physical infrastructure.  Those matters fall properly to the Council, or 

perhaps in the unique circumstances of Christchurch, the Minister of 

Earthquake Recovery under the provisions of the CERA Act, but some 

consideration has been given to how this Panel might address those 35 

matters. 

 

 The Crown has set out in its opening submissions, some options to 

respond to a finding that the intensification targets in the LURP may 

not be appropriately enabled by the provisions in the Replacement 40 

Plan. 

 

 Those options include directing the notification of a new proposal 

under clause 13.4 of the Order or as an alternative, but not a preferred 

option, the inclusion of a policy within the Plan that provides for 45 

additional intensification opportunities to be initiated by the Council 
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should monitoring establish a need to do so. 

 

 Now in my submission, it is clear there is a clear need for 

redevelopment of social housing and that has already been established.  

The evidence of Mr Commons highlights a current waiting list of 5 

priority A and priority B tenants, and the expectation of the 

Corporation is that even if its redevelopment plans are fully executed, a 

waiting list will remain. 

 

 It is further submitted that the option to notify a new proposal to enable 10 

greater intensification for social housing, may require more than an 

extension simply of the residential medium density zone, and could 

extend to the use of the EDM in the residential suburban zone, and I 

say that because that is where a large holding of Housing New 

Zealand’s land is in what is currently the Living 1 zone.  15 

 

 With or without the extension of the accessibility criteria, and I say that 

because you may appreciate that the EDM has some locational 

proximity criteria.  In areas of significant Housing New Zealand land, 

often those locational criteria are not met. Those facilities are not 20 

currently in those neighbourhoods.  

 

 All the development of new CHRM areas are in locations identified to 

be without significant infrastructure capacity. 

 25 

 It is accepted that in directing notification of a new proposal clause 

13.4 requires an assessment by this Panel that changes are necessary to 

deal with matters that are in a material way outside the scope of the 

proposal as notified, and to deal with submissions.  They say it is clear 

that the Crown has lodged a submission that requests the intensification 30 

of land to be revisited, and directing a new Proposal on that basis is 

therefore appropriate.  But I accept that what is less clear is whether 

with respect specifically to social housing, the matter is material. 

 

 And in that regard the Corporation is somewhat hamstrung.  At this 35 

time the Corporation is unable to clearly identify the extent to which its 

redevelopment and intensification aspirations are in fact constrained, 

other than by applying for development on a case by case basis. 

 

 The evidence of Ms O’Brien is that with respect to at least one of the 40 

CHRM areas, half or more of the land is entirely constrained with the 

balance still to be investigated. As set out in the evidence of 

Mr Commons, development in other CHRM areas is at least 

questionable. 

 45 

 Given this it is submitted that an appropriate interim step may be for 
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this Panel to commission a report under schedule 3 clause 8 of the 

Order, to endeavour to determine the extent to which development 

within each CHRM may be constrained by infrastructure provision. 

 

  [9.55 am] 5 

 

 The purpose of such a report would be to determine the extent to which 

such constraint might be material with a view to directing a new 

proposal to be notified under clause 13.4.   

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Could I just interrupt at that point, so just to understand 

the submission there - - - 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - you acknowledge that the Panel cannot force any 

programme with infrastructure development. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, sir. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But you are saying it is a relevant resource management 

question that there is not clarity on whether the programme will see 

implementation in areas that have been identified in the Plan for the 

purposes of your client - - - 

 25 

MS SEMPLE:   Correct, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - hence, it is material to the questions before the Panel 

as to what mechanisms to employ and what to modify if necessary? 

 30 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, yes, sir, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   As previously set out, such a proposal if initiated would be 35 

directed toward enabling the intensification of social housing 

development in areas where infrastructure is in place or planned, and 

would be, perhaps by way of new residential medium density, new 

CHRM or an extension of the EDM with either modified or unmodified 

criteria. 40 

 

 I say in conclusion, there is a complexity to the challenges that 

Christchurch faces which is not easily resolved by simply amending 

provisions on front boundaries or site coverage rules. 

 45 

 While the Corporation is grateful to the Council for assisting and 
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resolving those matters, there remain more critical barriers to the 

achievement of its aspirations in providing for the people and 

communities of this city. 

 

 The Corporation is grateful to the Panel for any consideration it may be 5 

able to give to those matters. 

 

 Those are my submissions. 

 

 I asked if I could return just to that matter of process. 10 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And it was unclear to me in listening to the exchange 

yesterday as to the timeframe for development of a revised set of 15 

provisions.  I understood Mr Blair in answer to questions, to suggest 

that was a two week task, but that he was not able to commence it until 

after the Hearing, and I just wanted to be clear in order that the 

Corporation might be able to assist with that process, whether that was 

the understanding. 20 

 

SJH:   Well, I do not think it was at the end of the day, Ms Scott, was it, that it 

could wait that long because there are other members of the team that 

can get on with this. 

 25 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir. I have been back through the transcript and just 

checked what the discussion was with Mr Blair, and with Mr Macleod.  

Mr Andrew Macleod, his view was that it would take some two weeks 

to restructure, but I think he was quite clear that the content of what, if 

it was tasked to him, he would be restructuring was sorted. 30 

 

 Mr Blair’s evidence was that his view was that it would best happen at 

the end of the Hearing once all the evidence had been towards, and I 

was intending to raise with you to try and seek some clarity.   

 35 

 We have also been having some discussions with counsel for the 

Crown about their possible involvement as well, giving an indication - - 

- 

 

SJH:   Well, there is a further matter if other submitters raise things that there 40 

are to be concessions, it would mean we would have to recall Mr Blair 

and go through all of those. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, that is - - - 

 45 

SJH:   But it appears from his evidence that he had gone through the 
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submissions and made various concessions, but having said that, once 

he was being questioned he made an awful lot more concessions. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And that has been troubling me, sir, overnight in terms of, for 

example, the new neighbourhood zone, the part of the chapter, what 5 

that would mean in terms of  the discussion we had yesterday morning 

about a restructure. 

 

SJH:   It was a housekeeping draft we were after dealing with the issues we 

have, because we still think there is going to be an awful lot of work to 10 

do on this. 

 

 Did you overhear that exchange or not? 

 

MS SCOTT:   I did, sir. 15 

 

SJH:   That is the trouble when you have not good acoustics.  We used to trap 

people in the new High Court in Christchurch – not new High Court – 

it is as old as the hills now but it embarrassed a few counsel from time 

to time.  We had no-one to talk to so it was all right. 20 

 

 I think, that makes it clear what we are seeking.  We are not seeking to 

try – we want the drafting errors in a sense of typos and things being 

put in the wrong place, we want the concessions that have been made 

and the sort of the thing that the Crown would agree with and what 25 

Ms Semple is talking about today, we want those included and we want 

a collapsing of the repetitive nature of rules that appear in every bit. 

 

  [10.00 am] 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Sir, that is a big job. 

 

SJH:   It is a big job.  I think you need to cogitate on it over Easter and give us 

some time frames when you come back next week. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you, sir, and I will talk with my friends about that. 

 

SJH:   I can understand the problem Mr Blair has, and we are sympathetic to 

them, but equally we would not want to be sitting and waiting for four 

weeks at the end of the hearing to get this document. 40 

 

MS SCOTT:   I appreciate that, sir.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Alright. Thank you. 

 45 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, I am obliged for that clarity. Are there any 
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questions on those submissions? 

 

SJH:   Any questions on the submissions? 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you, Ms Semple.  Just a couple of questions, not on your 5 

submissions, but widening that a little and it would be just your opinion 

or views.  In Auckland, Housing New Zealand is achieving a lot higher 

densities than 40 percent site cover they are proposing here. Are you 

aware of that? 

 10 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, sir. 

 

MR SAX:   The general thrust of Housing New Zealand is one of really 

rejuvenation, which is trying to achieve something like 75 percent of 

new residents coming into an area of what you might call social 15 

housing.  I just wonder in terms of your density submissions, whether 

that fights against that principle somewhat, where if those principles 

were to be adopted, it would mean shifting people in what we call 

social housing out of those areas.  Do you think that is a good idea? 

 20 

MS SEMPLE:   I think you might you want to put that to Mr Commons, if I 

might suggest that. 

 

MR SAX:   Perhaps one final question, it relates to density.  If you increase the 

density somewhat and, accepting the constraints of infrastructure, 25 

would that aid Housing New Zealand, where effectively in clusters or 

regions you could have a lot of high density and a lower density at this 

time and maybe for quite a number of years until infrastructure can be 

dealt with, would that be a positive objective for Housing New 

Zealand? 30 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Again, I would like Mr Commons to speak to that.  I think I 

can say that for the Corporation any flexibility in being able to achieve 

its aspirations will be appreciated. 

 35 

MR SAX:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, if you’d call Mr Commons, please. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you. Paul Commons. 40 

 

<MR PAUL JOHN COMMONS, sworn [10.03 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SEMPLE [10.03 am] 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, Mr Commons.  If I can just confirm that your full 

name is Paul John Commons? 

 5 

MR COMMONS:   That is correct. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And you have prepared a brief of evidence dated 20 March 

2015 on behalf of the Housing Corporation of New Zealand? 

 10 

MR COMMONS:   That is correct. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Do you have any amendments or corrections to that evidence? 

 

MR COMMONS:   Absolutely, so I have got three amendments to the 15 

evidence.  Paragraph 45, I refer to the nature of our development 

activity, making the point that in Christchurch, it is particularly a 

brownfields approach to development, not a greenfields or large sub-

divisional activity.  It has been pointed out to me internally, we are 

doing some larger sub-divisional activity outside Christchurch, namely 20 

in Auckland, two projects in Auckland on former defence land at 

Hobsonville and at Papakura, you could describe as new sub-divisional 

activity. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, Mr Commons, could I just ask you if you would 25 

identify for the Panel what change you would like to make to that 

relevant paragraph? 

 

MR COMMONS:   So paragraph 45, I would like to add the words “in 

Christchurch” after the word “activity” to correct that evidence.  30 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 

 Paragraph 56 for the Panel, I provide percentages of TC2-TC3 land for 

the Housing New Zealand stock.  I would like to change those 35 

percentages to 63 percent TC2, and 19 percent TC3. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And that is paragraph 56? 

 

MR COMMONS:   Yes. And one last change, paragraph 78, I refer to a 40 

development in the suburb of Aranui where I am talking about 79 units. 

That is now 75 units. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, Mr Commons. And with those corrections, can you 

confirm that your evidence is true and correct? 45 
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MR COMMONS:   I can confirm that. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, and I understand that you have prepared a 

highlights package, I think we are calling them, and I wonder if you 

might read that to the Panel, please. 5 

 

MR COMMONS:   Firstly, I would just like to thank the Panel for the 

opportunity and your considered wisdom in this process.  It is not easy, 

nothing in Christchurch around recovery is easy, but this is, from our 

point of view, a very important process in terms of enabling us to do 10 

what we need to do to not only recover our stock, but also take the 

opportunity to improve and modernise going forward.  And at the end 

of the day, what we represent in many ways are the most vulnerable 

and needy residents of the city in terms of the housing need.  

 15 

 I think my evidence is relatively full, I will just go through a few 

highlights.  As a Crown entity, we are the owner of approximately 

6,000 homes in Christchurch.  That represents a literal stadium of 

individuals - 20,000 live and rely on those homes.  We are by that fact 

alone, the largest residential landlord in the city.  20 

 

 Like everyone else in Christchurch, we were badly affected by 

earthquake events.  95 percent of our property sustained some level of 

damage. I think that is relatively typical, earthquakes do not 

discriminate between the good, the bad and the ugly in terms of 25 

damage.  You can see on the maps behind me that we are representative 

in most suburbs in the city, apart from some of the hill suburbs, which I 

am very grateful we were not there, to be honest.  

 

 We are very much in full recovery mode. We have a very clear 30 

mandate and instruction from the Crown to have our house in order 

literally by the end of this calendar year, 2015.  That involves a virtual 

army of activity: 5,000 house repairs, 700 new replacement homes.  So 

every day of the working week we would spend $1,000,000 and by way 

of example, in March we repaired something like 20 homes a working 35 

day, of that order in that month alone.  

 

 So by the end of this year, we will be back, all things going well, we 

will be back to a position where we will have repaired our damaged 

homes and replaced the ones we lost, and we will be back to pre-40 

earthquake levels of homes.  And in a city that really does require these 

homes to be built and replaced as soon as possible.  

 

 We will then move from recovery to reconfiguration. We are very 

much not putting back what was there, we are putting back fully 45 

repaired modernised and our replacement homes that a very different 



 Page 458 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

type of home to what we built in our portfolio.  So the earthquake has 

taken a lot away, clearly, but it does also open up tremendous 

opportunities to improve the situation going forward.  So we do owe it 

to ourselves and our tenants to take the opportunity that we have been 

given here.  5 

 

 The needs of our tenants have changed over time, with different 

government settings and the way society has changed in New Zealand. 

We are looking to reconfigure our portfolio through this process and 

particularly make better use of our landholdings, which are substantial. 10 

You will see a lot more one and two bedrooms dwellings being built – 

that is where our future is.  They are purpose built, they are above the 

building code, they are purposely designed for our tenants and their 

requirements, they are warmer, they are drier, they are safer and they 

healthier. There are some examples of these right across the road from 15 

this hearing. 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 

 So in that regard, let me just dwell a little on our tenants.  In the last 20 

twelve months in the city, 36 percent of people who have been assessed 

requiring housing from us through the Ministry of Social Development, 

36 percent of those applications are for one bedroom properties.  They 

will be mainly single adults or adult couples.  39 percent will be for 

families requiring two bedrooms and only 18 percent will be for homes 25 

requiring three or more bedrooms. This contrasts with our pre-

earthquake portfolio which is dominated by three bedroom homes. 

 

 We see it as our responsibility to recover and rebuild and redevelop 

housing to meet the needs of our tenants now and into the future.  We 30 

build and we hold.  We take a 50 year view minimum, and we would 

consider our activity as about providing critical social infrastructure to 

the city.  

 

 Our redevelopment strategy allows a much more efficient use of 35 

landholdings.  Our developments, typically through the needs of single 

and small family groups, require smaller homes than the larger three 

bedroom homes that were formerly on those sites, and this will 

inevitably free up land for other uses in the private affordable space. 

 40 

 Given the location of a lot of our homes, invariably this type of land 

will be valued and is located in, what I would probably describe as, the 

more affordable suburbs within Christchurch. 

 

 So the so-called LURP package of provisions have significantly helped 45 

us and has assisted us in meeting our goals.  We are currently using the 
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two for one provision on eight sites in Living 1 and Living 2 zones. We 

have taken the opportunity to remove the covenant on elderly persons 

housing, EPH, on 58 units to give us more flexibility of our placement 

of our tenants going forward.  We seek to use the CHRM wherever we 

possibly can, particularly in suburbs Aranui, Bexley and Shirley.  The 5 

largest of these redevelopments is in Aranui with over 70 units, that is 

75 currently under construction.  

 

 In addition to the LURP provisions, we are also developing 34 projects, 

using L2 or L3 zone provisions or EPH provisions. Colloquially, there 10 

is a literal tool box of provisions we try and use, depending on the 

location of the particular site. I have included within my evidence some 

photographs of new Housing New Zealand developments, which have 

been constructed using the various provisions. I can go through those, 

maybe, if you wish.  You can see by looking at these houses, it is quite 15 

difficult to spot a Housing New Zealand home against other homes.  

This is quite deliberate. We have a clear policy of integrating our 

homes, just like any other homes, into communities that surround them. 

 

 It is my understanding from Mr Dale that he is generally comfortable 20 

with the various LURP provisions, that they are accurately contained 

within the Replacement Plan.  Housing New Zealand wishes to extend 

its gratitude to the Council for its co-operative manner in which these 

amendments have been achieved.  I think it is very important for me to 

state that we have a very multi-faceted relationship with the Council 25 

and the Council have a very important influence on our success. 

 

 On a practical level, plans are clearly very important, but they can only 

be successful with supporting efficient processes and procedures 

around the use of them.  The ready availability of infrastructure, local 30 

amenities, and reasonable land quality et cetera. 

 

  [10.15 am] 

 

 I do set out in my evidence some concerns as to the extent of which 35 

infrastructure constrains our activities, particularly in wastewater and to 

some extent stormwater, and this does definitely compromise our 

ability to actually deliver on our redevelopment plans and costs, I might 

add, despite the LURP planning provisions.  The consequence of this is 

less homes for those in need.  That is the reality of our development 40 

processes. 

 

 So we are clearly and I am personally experiencing some difficulties in 

getting a clear understanding of the areas where capacity is available 

within wastewater and stormwater systems.  It is not entirely clear to 45 

Housing New Zealand how significant the extent of this constraint will 
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ultimately be and when it will be.  However, I must say at the moment 

the constraint is certainly impacting significantly on our development 

plans. 

 

 In considering the likely impact of this moving forward Housing 5 

New Zealand is of the view that if the opportunity arises to revisit the 

residential medium density zones or other planning mechanisms in the 

toolbox.  As part of the Replacement Plan process some consideration 

should also be given to investigating areas of land to compensate for 

areas where wastewater constraints exist.   10 

 

 If such areas can include significant tracts of social housing this would 

be of benefit in redeveloping our social housing stock. It would be of 

benefit to our tenants.  It would be of benefit to our communities and of 

benefit to our city. 15 

 

 I am also aware the Panel has expressed some interest in understanding 

how or when the EDM may be used by developers. I have prepared 

some notes on that and would be happy to share to those with the Panel 

if they were of assistance.  So that is the summary of my evidence. 20 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Commons, if you would answer 

any questions from my friends and then from the Panel. 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Scott. 25 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [10.17 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Commons.  I am conscious that the 

delivery of investment into Council’s infrastructure is an LGA rather 30 

than an RMA matter, the issue of enabling intensification certainly is 

relevant here, and I just have a couple of quick questions that I would 

just like to go through. 

 

 To summarise a theme in Ms O’Brien’s evidence for the Council, 35 

limitations to wastewater can be quite local and can be overcome, but 

in other instances development can be the straw that breaks the camel’s 

back for a much larger part of the network, would you agree with that? 

 

MR COMMONS:   No. 40 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, you would not? 

 

MR COMMONS:   No. 

 45 

MS SCOTT:   So, from your experience in working in the development sector, 
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a pepper pot approach does not create delays and trip up planning? 

 

MR COMMONS:   The difficulty I have with questions around wastewater, 

stormwater et cetera is that we are not party to the limitations, the 

guidelines, the budgets, the decisions around that from Council.  We 5 

simply are not party to that.  We seek clarity and get some but not all 

clarity.  It is extraordinarily hard for us to try and somehow optimise 

our developments, try and find the earthquake damage and the areas of 

greatest capacity availability from the Council and try and get that 

right, it is just too hard.  It is really too hard.   10 

 

 We communicate as clear as we can.  We communicate our plans as 

best we can often under real duress in terms of substantial damage, 

uncertainty around location of amenity and other community aspects.  

We do the very best we can but we cannot be charged with trying to 15 

maximise our developments to suit the infrastructural constraints of the 

Council, and that is kind of what it feels like. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you.  In terms of the certainty that the Council 

needs, in terms of the information that is given to it, Ms O’Brien’s 20 

evidence has responded to some of your comments and she raised 

concerns about being asked to confirm capacity when the range of 

houses you were bringing to the Council is somewhere between 200 

and 1,200.  Would you accept that that is a large range in scope in 

terms of the uncertainty of the plans that the Council is being asked to 25 

respond to? 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 

MR COMMONS:   Let me refer to that.  I have actually got some prepared 30 

notes because I am expecting questions around this so let me just, if I 

am able and the Panel is able, to talk about how we view development, 

how we view infrastructure and how we need to work as a housing 

provider under great urgency with the Council infrastructure.  In the 

context that we are trying to build quickly and build right, build for the 35 

long term, but also accommodate the reality that there are physical 

constraints.  So I have got some notes here on how we work with the 

Council and have worked with the Council that demonstrates our 

position or our thinking.  Can I go through that? 

 40 

SJH:   Well, if it is in answer to the question yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   I suspect the Panel is interested in that. 

 

MR COMMONS:   (INDISTINCT 0.58) the question 200 and 1,200 quite 45 

clearly, that is Shirley and I will get to that through this discussion on 
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how we view Shirley, and what we can and cannot do in Shirley.  

Which is a classic suburb where we had a lot of substantial property in 

that suburb, there is tremendous Council involvement in there and 

together we can recover Shirley but we need a lot of help from Council, 

a lot of help from Council on that. 5 

 

MS SCOTT:   I understand that, and are you aware of the conversations that 

have already started in the last few weeks about those areas and the 

agreement for the Corporation and the Council to work in a 

collaborative way to explore what Housing New Zealand’s plans are? 10 

 

MR COMMONS:   Yes, these conversations go back years though.  I mean are 

united with the Council in many ways and sense that after Housing 

New Zealand, the largest provider of social housing in the country, is 

the Christchurch City Council. 15 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes. 

 

MR COMMONS:   So we and they have a very close understanding about the 

need for social housing, that is where we start our relationship.  So we 20 

have a lot in common in that regard about tenancies and working 

together from a practical on-the-ground reality of working within social 

housing. 

 

 We are the largest owner of residential property and we are the largest 25 

residential ratepayer in the city.  We are also the largest brownfield 

developer so therefore we are one of the largest payers of development 

contributions.  So we are one of the largest users of infrastructure.  We 

are one of the largest users of the plans and we are one of the largest 

users of planning processes. So we have got a lot going on and we have 30 

a lot of reasons to have a close and very constructive working 

relationship with the Council.  

 

 We make land available for public works to enable stormwater drains 

to leave Shirley and so on and so forth, so we work very closely with 35 

the Council for the benefit of the city.  And as a Crown entity we are 

charged to do everything we can for the improvement of the city.  We 

work closely with - - - 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Sorry, Mr Commons, I am going to stop you there, I know that 40 

is untoward, but I am not sure that you are answering my friend’s 

question and I would ask that she put it to you again and you answer 

that question. 

 

MR COMMONS:   Okay, so 200, 1,200 that is Shirley.  We own 250-odd 45 

properties in Shirley and the heart of Shirley - - - 
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SJH:   The question was, was the range so great that it made it difficult for the 

Council to respond? 

 

MR COMMONS:   Well, we were in a meeting at Council discussing Shirley, 5 

okay. 

 

SJH:   Please just answer the question. 

 

MR COMMONS:   I do not think it makes it hard for the Council at all because 10 

that is the upper and lower limit of what we can do in Shirley and the 

answer to those limits is very much what is the availability of 

infrastructure in that suburb. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 15 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you.  Just one final question, would you accept that 

the timeliness of the Council’s response is directly related to the 

visibility that it has of the actual development plans proposed by 

Housing New Zealand? 20 

 

MR COMMONS:   No, I do not accept that. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you, no further questions. 

 25 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Good morning, Mr Commons. In your 

summary you – I think I have interpreted this correctly and I think it is 

based on your written statement – that you will revert to the pre-30 

earthquake situation relatively quickly.  Are there specific Christchurch 

related issues that distinguish Christchurch from other parts of 

New Zealand once that situation has been corrected or rectified, and if 

so what are they? 

 35 

MR COMMONS:   Well, you know, we are in earthquake recovery so there are 

issues around that and the condition of the land and infrastructure 

clearly that you do not experience somewhere else.  But the outcome 

we want to achieve for Christchurch I think in terms of modernisation 

of social housing and purpose built is similar to what we have asked 40 

(ph 4.57) very clearly.   

 

  [10.25 am] 

 

 The demographics are slightly different in other cities but we have in 45 

Christchurch an aged portfolio of homes that were built in the 40s, 50s 
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and 60s and the modern demands are quite different, so that is 

somewhere elsewhere, clearly. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So once that is done I think you have indicated that that is 

essentially by about the end of the year you will be back to where you 5 

ought to have been, if I could put it that way.  What do you see that the 

specific challenges and needs for establishing social housing in 

Christchurch are relative to other parts of New Zealand, or is it just the 

same as everywhere else, then? 

 10 

MR COMMONS:   Different communities have different requirements, South 

Auckland is a very different demographic, a very different sense of 

community than it is in say Christchurch so we reflect, what we do in 

Aranui will be different to what we in Shirley.  Some suburbs will take 

a different type of accommodation than other.  Single adults we would 15 

like to have near high levels of amenity and more central locations. 

Families we would like to locate in suburbs like Shirley, but generally 

speaking the post recovery approach here in Christchurch will be 

similar to what we do in say Auckland, and they are the two pressure 

points for us as a corporation, is Auckland and Christchurch.  20 

 

 In some communities the level of intensification is, we have got high 

expectations around planning, we have got high demands of building 

quality but we are held to a very high standard regarding community 

expectation and engagement, and we build to uphold for 50 years.  So 25 

when we go into a particular community we are sensitive to that.  The 

people of Aranui will have a different view on their communities than 

people in Jelly Park, Bryndwr, for instance, and we try and reflect that 

in the way we approach our development. 

 30 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you.  At paragraph 57 you have talked about the 

waiting list in Christchurch and in reading those numbers they seemed 

to me low in the sense of a layperson’s approach in they do not look 

completely different from a pro-rata across the rest of the country, is 

that fair or am I misrepresenting that? 35 

 

MR COMMONS:   You are saying the waiting list is low? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Well, you said it was 10 percent of the Corporation’s 

waiting list is in Christchurch, which is broadly speaking in line with 40 

population.  I had always understood rightly or wrongly that it was a 

real pressure on social housing in Christchurch relative to everywhere 

else.  Am I wrong in my assumption of the waiting list or is the waiting 

list not an accurate reflection of demand? 

 45 

MR COMMONS:   So the waiting list is now called the housing register which 
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is managed by MSD. So in terms of government policy and 

government support around housing there are various mechanisms that 

government provides, the housing support - accommodation 

supplements, state housing and so forth so it is in a complicated picture, 

and emergency housing and shelters and so forth.   5 

 

 What I say about current demand in Christchurch, it is undeniable that 

it is there at the moment right now, because the net housing stock and 

social space was sort of -900, for a size number of something like 6127 

pre-earthquake the Council had 2650 something like that, the Council 10 

will ultimately not recover all their stock, so they are down quite a few 

hundred, we are down of that order, we will recover that by the end of 

the year, I am expecting a big dent in that list.   

 

 Immediately post-earthquake there was little pressure in social housing 15 

because there was flight, there was absolute flight, and that has 

returned.  What tends to happen is these lists come and go, I am 

expecting a really good improvement in that list for the end of the year. 

There is real pressure on Christchurch to get these houses built for it 

but we will not eliminate that list, people move around to where the 20 

housing is provided so there will be pressure on Christchurch for 

families wanting to reunite here, so I am expecting that we will build 

and we will open and we will tenant these properties and that list will 

go down, but I am still expecting pressure on that list.  But let us wait 

until we get to that point.   25 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Maybe I did not ask my question explicitly enough.  At a 

reading of your evidence, I would have thought for the reasons that you 

have said, the waiting list in Christchurch would be much higher pro-

rata than the rest of New Zealand, and the waiting list number does not 30 

seem to me on the face of it to be out of whack with the pro-rata for 

New Zealand and I am just wondering why that is with the real 

pressure of that? 

 

MR COMMONS:   I do agree with that, but there are other dynamics around 35 

housing and if you are going to wait a long time for a state house you 

may not come to Christchurch looking for a state house, you get that 

dynamic happening as well. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   That is fine, thank you. 40 

 

MR COMMONS:   Okay. 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 45 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir; that is all.  
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SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Commons.  Of the 700 units that you say are 

currently under construction or will be during this year, are any of 5 

those in the CHRM areas and where? 

 

MR COMMONS:   You are going to push my knowledge of exactly what we 

are using where. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Just generally because we talk a lot about suburbs. 

 

MR COMMONS:   Well Aranui is a good example of that mechanism.  There 

is plan for one in Broomfield, Hornby as well using that mechanism.  

So we look to use that mechanism where it is appropriate, sometimes 15 

we are in a situation where that is there but we use an EPH mechanism 

for instance, or it is an L3 zone, but we look to use that where we can, 

but we look at the location and we look at a site and work out the right 

planning instrument to achieve what we think is appropriate for that 

location, and as I said earlier we literally have a toolbox of different 20 

ways of doing things and so. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So in those areas including some of them in the CHRM areas, 

you have been able to resolve infrastructure capacity matters with the 

Council for those for now? 25 

 

MR COMMONS:   Yes, but some land site we walk past, we do not build on 

that land because we cannot get the infrastructure available for us, so 

we do not build on that land, we park that land up and go somewhere 

else, and we will have to get back to that sometime in the future. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   I understand that, thank you.  Now, on paragraph 90, this is a 

matter where evidence has been provided to us about urban design 

considerations, paragraph 90 of your evidence where you talk about the 

conflicts between interpretation of urban design considerations on the 35 

one hand and CPTED requirements which you say the Corporation 

takes seriously.  Can you just give us some examples of the sorts of 

conflicts that arise? 

 

MR COMMONS:   Okay, so we have a very good relationship with New 40 

Zealand Police, we work with them closely in areas of the city for 

obvious reasons, they have got a particular view on what they consider 

safe, secure construction in communities, we take the best professional 

advice on that as well.  We take a view that we build to own for 50 

years so it is important to try and get this thing as right as we possibly 45 

can.  But when it comes to things like driveways and lighting offsets 



 Page 467 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

there is often a conflict between what is considered safe from a subject 

point of view and what the urban designers would like to see us build. 

It is a compromise. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Sometimes it might be in say the built form suggestion or - - - 5 

 

MR COMMONS:   Well it is a fence, do we have an open fence or do we have 

a closed fence, do we have another crossing on the street or do we not 

and it is a compromise, it is always a compromise. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Some of those details come into conflict. 

 

MR COMMONS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Sax? 

 

MR SAX:   Yes, thank you, Mr Commons, I think you have probably been 

forewarned of the questions so if you would like me to repeat them but 20 

perhaps I can start by, if you could just explain to us what is the driving 

principles here?  I am aware that Housing New Zealand in Auckland, 

they are generally trying to drive to rejuvenation of communities which 

often means for example demolishing or removing a cluster of houses, 

replacing them with say, four times the number, as an example, 25 

maintaining those residents that were previously there, three quarters of 

the residents are new residents that will not be from social housing 

demand place.   

 

 So the general notion of bringing people in lifts those that would be 30 

from a place of struggle.  Has that been applied to you because under 

clause 21 you say “the goal of the Corporation is to provide purpose 

built sustainable homes for residents with social housing needs”.  So is 

that correct or is that just part of the objective down here?   

 35 

 Or is that something that should be actively sought or pursued in your 

view just in terms of best practice? 

 

MR COMMONS:   The goal of Corporation in Christchurch is to provide 

housing for those in their time of need, and part of that is to make full 40 

use of our landholdings, and we have, by way of example, the 

earthquake has freed up land.  Let me give you a case in point, there is 

an address I am aware of in Aranui/Bexley, five houses built in 1970s, 

reasonably built quality house is destroyed by the earthquakes 

unfortunately.  We look at that location, we are happy with having five 45 

there, the land can support nine, some of these houses are much 
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smaller, that land was quite large for the houses on that site so we have 

a development there that we are having built on our behalf five 

replacement homes and the builder will take an opportunity there to 

build and to sell four other homes to the private market in an affordable 

part of Christchurch, that is an example of where we are going. 5 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you, the further question on density, I understand from the 

submissions that Housing New Zealand is happy with a 40 percent site 10 

cover.  Site coverage in Auckland on the recently completed, Housing 

New Zealand is an awful lot higher, in fact ones that I visited a couple 

of weeks ago was about 190 square metres per house, a four bedroom 

house.  I understand your submissions, rethinking that do you think 

there would be benefit in a lot higher density being sought than what is 15 

presently being submitted, and the second part of that question will that 

assist in many regards the more rapid development of housing where 

there may be areas of no infrastructure constraint as opposed to areas 

that will just have to wait a lot longer until infrastructure is in place? 

 20 

MR COMMONS:   The short answer is that it would be helpful but I would put 

a caveat on that in the sense that density would rise stormwater issues, 

we will have elevated build cost and somehow be trying to minimise 

the increase in stormwater catchment on that land, that is an issue in a 

lot of our locations so that is one factor.  The other thing that drives that 25 

is the social fabric of the building outcome so, sure, we would like to 

intensify but we do face the reality that we need to be very careful 

about what we think is appropriate in terms of good placement and 

good tenancy management so we tend to go inside those, we tend to 

work underneath that accordingly.   30 

 

MR SAX:   A question on the stormwater constraint, we heard submissions 

from Mr Blair that there is generally a move to encourage better use of 

utilities and/or discharge to aquifer, I am not familiar with all of your 

areas but some of your areas there is very good discharge to aquifer 35 

capabilities so if that was to be practiced more and actively encouraged 

by the Council or adopted would that alleviate many of those 

constraints in some of your areas? 

 

MR COMMONS:   Possibly, I am not aware if we are doing that though to be 40 

honest but possibly, yes. 

 

MR SAX:   I do not believe you are (INDISTINCT 2.31) - - - 

 

MR COMMONS:   No. 45 
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MR SAX:   No further questions. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Commons, just a few questions I wanted to follow up.  5 

Just in answer to Dr Mitchell’s questions, I had a sense that if one is 

looking at the issues that are immediate for the corporation in terms of 

dealing with social housing, that it is not so much the immediate 

impacts of the earthquake and the crisis that that caused by way of 

damage to stock because your evidence explains the programme and 10 

progress towards getting back to square one in that area and the waiting 

list relatively modest in a national sense or comparative at least, not 

exceptional.   

 

 So my understanding and I think this was emphasised in submissions 15 

for the corporation is that there is a demographic issue and that issue in 

fact is nationwide but what sets Christchurch apart is the opportunity 

that is available to address it, is that right? 

 

MR COMMONS:   It is absolutely correct, yes, so there is two parts to that, 20 

one is that as we replace broken three bedroom homes and we’re not 

putting new three bedroom homes back on that site so invariably 

typical residential setting in houses that have been badly damaged we 

put two or three, two units back into that location. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, no need to repeat your evidence but just a context, so 

thinking about it in that sense and how best to deal with a social issue, 

social wellbeing issue, given the opportunity that is available.  So I 

want to just discuss with you this issue about the impediment that has 

caused by the lack of current clarity on infrastructure constraint and 30 

obviously the Panel has been invited to think about whether it needs to 

take some measures there to give further clarity if it is not forthcoming 

and then to think about planning responses in addition to what we have 

in front of us.   

 35 

 So Ms Scott asked you about, she said a conversation that has occurred 

in the last few weeks and I took from her questions and your answers 

that there is some sort of accord that has been developed of late 

between the Council and the corporation, am I right about that, is there 

such a thing? 40 

 

  [10.40 am] 

 

MR COMMONS:   No. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so if there is no accord, I can take it there is no 
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formal document such as a memorandum of understanding between the 

two agencies. 

 

MR COMMONS:   Not recently, no, there is one but not recently. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you the responsible person from the corporation side 

for the relationship with the Council? 

 

MR COMMONS:   Yes, I am accountable for that relationship from outside, 

yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And from your point of view, from the point of view of 

the corporation, have there been attempts to develop such an accord? 

 

MR COMMONS:   Yes, there have been. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And am I right to understand that that may be to the extent 

of developing a formalised memorandum of understanding or 

something of that kind? 

 20 

MR COMMONS:   There is a memorandum of understanding between the two 

organisations that is at least two years old, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the issue being that it is out of date? 

 25 

MR COMMONS:   No, not really, this is not about a memorandum of 

understanding this about working together, understanding each other’s 

constraints, plans, and challenges and working out as best we can 

between a very large user of infrastructure - - - 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, keep your answer brief if you can. 

 

MR COMMONS:   It is more about getting people together in the right place at 

the right time with clarity and direction and decision making authority. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, and your experience is that that is lacking at 

the moment and hence there is an information vacuum causing issues 

for programming and planning from the corporation’s point of view? 

 

MR COMMONS:   That is correct, but what I will say is that these challenges 40 

are not easy and they acknowledge, and there are people working to 

solutions it’s just how you get to the solution quickly and efficiently.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, now I want to take you to, I haven’t put 

Mr (INDISTINCT 2.02) on notice but I would like to put you to 45 

exhibit #1 of the Crown’s exhibits which shows the map on the wall 
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behind you but I am hoping to get it on the screen so you do not have to 

lean around and go away from the microphone in which case you lose 

the transcription.  So looking at exhibit #2 and perhaps we might just 

get that sentence so we have pretty much got all the red dots.  And you 

will see, if I was attempting to draw Italy or a boot I might draw that 5 

thing to the right of the green area to the north of the CBD, do you see 

that there?   

 

MR COMMONS:   I think you are looking at Shirley, is that correct? 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is Shirley, yes, put the curser on Shirley if you could 

please.  Well, you have seen it there? 

 

MR COMMONS:   I know Shirley, yes. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is the topic of some sort of analysis being done on 

redevelopment now. 

 

MR COMMONS:   Correct, yes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the range is between 200 – 1200 units, is that right? 

 

MR COMMONS:   We could probably do more there to be honest but that is a 

fair enough range, yes. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If we work our way around a map to the other areas of 

large dots, are any of those other ones likely candidates for the renewal 

of stock that you have described going to the different configuration of 

units better suited to the demographics of an extra 50 years? 

 30 

MR COMMONS:   All allocations are up for that process to be honest but the 

big concentration, Shirley is one, Aranui is underway right now.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that where the cursor is? 

 35 

MR COMMONS:   Correct, that is Aranui/Bexley, correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is another one? 

 

MR COMMONS:   Yes. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And presumably one or two other candidates. 

 

MR COMMONS:   Riccarton. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Riccarton off to this side? 
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MR COMMONS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And is that still being considered on the basis of criteria in 

regarding to land value that you mentioned before?  You mentioned, I 5 

think in your evidence earlier that your redevelopment tends to be in 

the more affordable suburbs and is that in that area? 

 

MR COMMONS:   That is an affordable suburb, yes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, does the corporation have any criteria in regard to, 

presumably it does, in regard to the amenity of residents, undoubtedly 

it would, would those criteria include ease of access to bus routes and 

key activity centres in Christchurch? 

 15 

MR COMMONS:   Absolutely critical, yes, sir, no question. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And what are those locational criteria?  We have heard 

800 metres for instance being a rule of thumb for access to busses, key 

activity centres and so forth or development of these higher density 20 

areas, what are the corporation’s criteria for its tenants? 

 

MR COMMONS:   That is a great question, I mean if the criteria varies by 

tenant group for instance so single adult males do not need to be near 

schools but young families do so we do develop stock in certain 25 

locations to reflect different demographics and different requirements. 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you have a guiding ideal rule of thumb for location or 30 

distance to bus routes and, for instance, shopping centres? 

 

MR COMMONS:   We have a guiding principle that suggests that our tenants 

need to be able to access those amenities conveniently.   

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And are they things which can be described in a list, for 

instance, that might go into a plan? 

 

MR COMMONS:   Not easily, no. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Why is that? 

 

MR COMMONS:   Because it depends on different tenant groups in terms of 

how they operate.  So if again if you are a single male living in one 

bedroom unit I know that they will require access to a bus route but 45 

will not require access to a school. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So am I right to understand effectively from the 

Corporation’s point of view you would rather not – and this fine, I just 

need to know the answer – you would rather not be constrained by 

criteria such as that because in fact it limits your opportunities unduly? 5 

 

MR COMMONS:   That is correct, that is absolutely right but also we do have 

quite a variable mix of tenants that we match to the location and 

amenity provided by that location as well.  So we can, you know, 

clearly we want families where families are well supported and adults 10 

where there is access to other things like RSA and clubs and so forth. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.  Now, finally, were the Corporation not able to 

develop either Aranui in the short term or Shirley in the short term due 

to infrastructure constraints making that too difficult at the scale that 15 

you would want are you able to say, by reference to this map, where 

your most likely areas of interest would be? 

 

MR COMMONS:   Yes, so we had a similar map to this that we gave to 

Council in November 2012 which - - - 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you quickly identify for the Panel, very briefly, just 

identify it in regard to this map as quickly as you can so we can 

understand it? 

 25 

MR COMMONS:   Well, Shirley is clearly surely – we classify Shirley as a 

medium term prospect given the amount of work we need to do with 

Council there on infrastructure.  Aranui is being done right now.  Jellie 

Park, Bryndwr is in that Shirley timescale.  We have done a lot in 

Riccarton and we would like to do some more but we do have limits 30 

there with infrastructure as well.  They are the headline suburbs I 

would say. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much. 

 35 

SJH:   I am sorry just to go back to that, though, the question was that if 

infrastructure constraints prevent you developing those major areas 

what are the next cabs off the rank outside of them if you look at this 

map? 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman. 

 

MR COMMONS:   We would probably have to buy land, sir. 

 

SJH:   Have you thought yet at this stage of where that might be or is it not 45 

something you have turned your mind to yet? 



 Page 474 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

 

MR COMMONS:   Yes, absolutely and we have purchased land to that purpose 

and we have purchased land particularly in, say, Linwood, Phillipstown 

where, you know, single adult accommodation and double unit 

accommodation suits that area and we have bought land and done 5 

development there to get the right zoning and the right location, but 

also because we have constraints somewhere else and we cannot 

develop our own land. 

 

SJH:   And there are other areas as well? 10 

 

MR COMMONS:   Well, parts of Riccarton - - - 

 

SJH:   I mean you do not need to tell us about the ones you are negotiating 

because there could well be commercial - - - 15 

 

MR COMMONS:   Addington would be another good example of relatively 

good land, reasonable zoning conditions.  We do not own enough land 

to redevelop, we have done a fair bit there but we are actively looking 

for more land to do it because we cannot do it on our own land. 20 

 

SJH:   Okay, thank you.  Ms Scott, any questions arising? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 

 25 

SJH:   Ms Semple? 

 

MS SEMPLE:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Commons, you may stand down and you may be 30 

released. 

 

MR COMMONS:   Thanks for your time. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.48 am] 35 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, the next witness is Mr Maurice Dale. 

 

<MAURICE RICHARD DALE, affirmed [10.48 am] 

40 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SEMPLE [10.49 am] 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Mr Dale, would you confirm that your full name is Maurice 

Richard Dale? 

 5 

MR DALE:   That is correct. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And you have prepared a brief of evidence dated 20 March 

2015? 

 10 

MR DALE:   Yes. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Do you have any alternations or corrections to make to that 

brief of evidence? 

 15 

MR DALE:   No, I do not. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And your qualifications are set out in in section 1? 

 

MR DALE:   Correct. 20 

 

MS SEMPLE:   The contents are true and correct to the best of your belief? 

 

MR DALE:   Yes. 

 25 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you. Now, sorry, sir, I had understood that Mr Dale was 

to be cross-examined by the Airport but has that been withdrawn? 

 

SJH:   No, we had a very late withdrawal at 9.40 this morning. 

 30 

MS SEMPLE:   Sir, I think the witness is yours. 

 

SJH:   There is no more cross-examination until we get to Mr Gregory. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   If you would answer any questions from the Panel. 35 

 

SJH So all we need is a summary. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Sorry, yes, perhaps the summary. 

 40 

MR DALE:   Good morning, sir, and the Panel members. 

 

SJH:   Good morning. 

 

MR DALE:   My evidence relates to the provisions of the residential proposal 45 

as they relate to the provision of social housing. 
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  [10.50 am] 

 

 In my evidence-in-chief I supported the retention of a number of 

provisions proposed in the Council’s track change proposal of 9 March 5 

2015. These provisions were the immediate housing interventions 

introduced through the LURP, particularly the CHRM, social housing 

complexes in the residential suburban zone and multi-unit residential 

complexes in the residential suburban density transition zone, and 

various built form standards. I propose some changes to these 10 

provisions to better provide for housing needs which are summarised at 

paragraph 4.3 of my evidence-in-chief.   

 

 These changes were required to ensure the immediate housing 

interventions achieved consistency with the intent of the LURP.  They 15 

were also required to improve the practicality of the Plan will better 

provide for housing needs while still providing for a high quality urban 

environment.   

 

 Changes were explored with the Council during mediation on 20 

Wednesday 18 March and as a result a number of amendments have 

been included in the Council’s track change proposal of 26 March, 

which is attached to the evidence of Mr Blair. 

 

 Only a few matters remain in contention which I will now address.  The 25 

qualifying criteria for the EDM in clause 14.7.3 of the proposal have 

not been correctly translated from the LURP into the Replacement 

Plan.  Particularly the proposal incorrectly requires EDM qualifying 

sites to be located within 800 metres of a supermarket instead of either 

within 800 metres of a business zone or a supermarket.  The proposal 30 

also incorrectly requires EDM qualifying sites to be within 800 metres 

of a cultural 3 zone.  

 

 I have addressed the required changes at paragraph 7.5 - 7.11 of my 

evidence and I understand in response to questioning at the hearing that 35 

Mr Blair accepts these were errors and should be corrected. 

 

 The Council in built form standard 14.2.3.4 has reduced the permissible 

site coverage for social housing complexes in the RS and multi-unit 

residential complexes in the residential suburban density transition 40 

zone from 40 percent to 35 percent.  

 

 I have addressed this at paragraph 11.1 - 11.6 of my evidence. I 

consider that a single storey multi-unit housing typology may require a 

higher site coverage allowance and that a 5 percent allowance will not 45 

result in development of the scale that would significantly impact on 
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the open space character of these zones. 

 

 I consider that a 40 percent site coverage will better provide for 

housing opportunities to meet diverse needs including social housing.  I 

however accept that a 40 percent coverage at two storeys could be at 5 

odds with the character and amenity of these zones.  I therefore would 

support a further change which provides 40 percent site coverage for a 

single storey development only, and I have drafted a proposed 

amendment to that rule to reflect that. 

 10 

 In built form standard 14.2.3.9 the Council has removed the notified 

exemption for garages associated with an existing residential unit to be 

located within the road boundary setback.  In my evidence I supported 

the exemption and considered it should be extended to also capture 

garages associated with new residential units.  I understand that in 15 

response to questioning Mr Blair has accepted that the exemption 

should be reintroduced for existing residential units. 

 

 I consider the outcomes of garages located within the road boundary 

setback are predictable and acceptable subject to applying design and 20 

landscape controls.  Providing flexibility for garages at the front of a 

property can assist in better site layout and more efficient use of land.  

The exemption will also reduce reliance on resource consent processes. 

 

 In the built form standards for service and waste management space the 25 

Council has included a requirement for spaces to be designed in a way 

that avoids spillages and leakages into a waterbody.  This applies to the 

EDM, CHRM, social housing complexes and multi-unit residential 

complexes.  I address this at paragraphs 7.15 - 7.18 and 13.4 - 13.5 of 

my evidence.  I agree that such spaces should not result in discharges to 30 

waterbodies however I consider this is already achieved by residential 

waste generally being within bins.  I also consider the rule is not certain 

and enforceable as it does not specify a means of compliance.   

 

 The Council in rule 14.2.2.3RD7 has applied the assessment matters in 35 

the EDM and CHRM to social housing complexes over four units.  I 

address the application of design assessment matters at 

paragraph 7.1.9-7.2.3 of my evidence. While I support the use of EDM 

and CHRM assessment matters, I consider that the design matters in the 

Plan would be appropriate consolidated into a single set under clause 40 

14.9.6 and that these also be applied to social housing complexes.  This 

will minimise the number of design standards and achieve consistency 

and clarity for housing development. 

 

  [10.55 am] 45 

 



 Page 478 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

 Overall, I consider these changes have appropriate regard to the 

Statement of Expectations and assist to achieve the strategic objectives 

of the Plan. I consider the relief will better provide for the 

Corporation’s needs in supporting the delivery of social housing. 

 5 

 I have made some comment in my evidence on the issue of the 

extension of the residential medium density zone.  I note that there are 

some concerns regarding the extent to which the CHRM may be 

constrained in delivering outcomes due to infrastructure constraints.  

To the extent that there may be an opportunity to revisit the extent of 10 

the RMD zone I would favour some consideration being given to social 

housing needs and the integration of this with surrounding communities 

alongside locational criteria.  

 

 This could be by way of explicit recognition in policy 14.1.1.1(a). I 15 

consider the RMD zone provides integration and enhancement benefits 

by supporting the achievement of blind tenure through providing the 

same development opportunity for all.  It also supports better use of the 

Corporation’s landholding to provide more housing generally, 

including affordable housing for the wider community.  Thank you. 20 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, Mr Dale, if you could just answer any questions 

from the Panel, please. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I have only got one question.  If you have been following 25 

the transcript you will see that there has been quite a lot of debate 

around the greater potential use of controlled activity status.  What is 

your view on the applicability of that from a social housing 

perspective? 

 30 

MR DALE:   I do support the use of controlled activity status in circumstances, 

particularly where I think the outcomes created are fairly predictable 

and there is not a need to have that additional ability to refuse consent 

for a proposal. 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   Is it likely that any of the Corporation’s proposals, in your 

view, would likely lead to that outcome, e.g. a refusal of consent, or do 

they all eventually get granted, subject to conditions? 

 

MR DALE:   My understanding is that they are granted consent, subject to 40 

conditions.  I am not aware of any particular developments that have 

not been given consent. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So, finally, and taking that to its ultimate conclusion, if we 

were to draw a line on the scale or type of activity that might be 45 
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applicable for a controlled activity status, where would you draw that 

line? 

 

MR DALE:   In terms of the number of units, or? 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   Yes, and any other.  I am just asking you, for what criteria 

you would recommend that we adopt if we were to draw a line between 

controlled and activity and restricted discretionary activity, because 

everything is restricted discretionary at the moment that is not 

permitted, as you are aware. 10 

 

MR DALE:   Yes, I think I need to give that some more thought. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right.  Thank you. 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Dale.  I just have a few questions.  On page 

22 and 23, just as an example, you show some rules for social housing 

multi-units and then multi-units that are not social housing and they are 20 

in slightly different zones. 

 

MR DALE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Using this as an example and thinking more broadly than 25 

that, do you see there is scope for consolidation of many of the rules 

and the standards in the way that they are currently written? 

 

MR DALE:   Yes, I do, there is a lot of repetition throughout the Plan and I 

think there is certainly room for consolidation. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   And do you think that would improve the usability in bulk of 

what people have to wade through? 

 

MR DALE:   Absolutely. 35 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. You have talked in paragraph 10.5 from your 

experience with enforceability of some of these rules, and in this 40 

particular example you were looking at tree and garden planting 

landscape rules.  Could you just expand for us on your comments from 

your experience in seeing these sort of things in action, how 

improbable it is that these would be enforced, I think that is what you 

have said? 45 
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MR DALE:   Yes, I mean the current Operative Plan does have a range of 

landscaping standards which are administered by the Council. 

Obviously the Replacement Plan does as well.  In my experience, of 

working at the Council, I am certainly not aware of Council officers 

going out and checking compliance with built form controls to see if 5 

whether they are met or not.  In my experience it is generally a result of 

complaints being made by others that results in those things being 

checked. 

 

MS DAWSON:   In terms of the number of properties that would be covered 10 

by various built form controls, the number that might have complaints, 

and therefore be checked, would that be very small? 

 

MR DALE:   I would think so, yes. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Just looking briefly at the EDM mechanism.  

You might have heard other questions about the potential for the 

removal of the time constraint on that and, potentially its extension to 

the RS zone, rather than the other zones that it is in.  In terms of both 

the effectiveness or usefulness of that, and the effects of doing that, do 20 

you have any comments that you could give us? 

 

MR DALE:   My own opinion is that the EDM was always seen as an interim 

provision to provide some additional medium density uplift until which 

time the Council did its review of the Plan, and particularly review the 25 

medium density zones.  I personally favour the medium density zone 

being reviewed and that that being eventually absorbing those areas 

that the EDM would apply over.  Because, in particular if you look at 

the locational criteria that apply to the EDM versus, certainly what is 

being proposed in policy 14.1.1.1(a) they are very similar and I would 30 

expect that if you did apply those RMD criteria, that they would absorb 

that EDM opportunity. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And so the need for an interim uplift in those zones would 

then be overtaken by extended RMD zones? 35 

 

MR DALE:   Correct. Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Now the other area that you may have noticed 

we have been asking about is the style and the formatting and approach 40 

to assessment matters, particularly for urban design. And you have 

commented on, I think you said you accept Ms McIntyre’s approach? 

 

MR DALE:   Yes. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   And you have also mentioned that we have a set of 
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assessment matters, particularly applied to the EDM and the CHRM 

and maybe also to retirement villages, and then there is another set that 

applies more widely which would apply to social housing and multi-

units.  And we have various forms now, the extended, more descriptive 

form and the more brief form of Ms McIntyre.  Can you give me your 5 

opinion about two things, the style that you think is most useful for 

interpreting those and for both the applicant and the Council officer, 

and whether they should all be amalgamated into one set for all types 

of development? 

 10 

MR DALE:   Certainly on the second question, I would favour a consolidation 

exercise and with all assessment matters applying equally to all similar 

forms of development, whether that be within the medium density 

zone, multi-unit development or other forms of comprehensive 

development.   15 

 

 In terms of the approach that I favour, I have obviously relied on the 

evidence of Ms McIntyre, which favours a more headline approach 

with very focused assessment matters. I consider that approach is 

appropriate, however, I think it is most effectively implemented where 20 

it is supported by other guidance to make it clear how those criteria are 

to be applied. 

 

  [11.05 am] 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   And that latter approach, is that the approach that we 

understand is being taken in the central city residential zone with some 

focused headline assessment matters, and I think we heard a design 

guide is being prepared? 

 30 

 MR DALE:   That is my understanding, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and you would favour that approach? 

 

MR DALE:   I would, yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   And just going back to your answer to the first part of the 

question when you talk about consolidation, just to make sure I 

understand, my question was just about the urban design related 

matters, not consolidating all other bulk and form assessment matters. 40 

 

MR DALE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, you were just referring to urban design? 

 45 

MR DALE:   Yes, I was. 
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MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax? 

 5 

MR SAX:   Yes, Mr Dale, good morning.  I have three questions for you and I 

would like to refer particularly to your evidence, objective summary 

4.1, 4.3 where you mention the key objectives being efficient effective 

delivery of social housing, and yet in 4.3, to better provide for needs, 

particularly social housing.  My question is simply more, quicker, and 10 

cheaper are the key components that achieve that objective? 

 

MR DALE:   Yes, I would agree with that. 

 

MR SAX:   In that context, would you agree that if densities were increased to 15 

what Housing New Zealand has achieved in Auckland now of 190 

square meters per dwelling, densification, particularly where there is no 

infrastructure constraint would achieve those general objectives of 

more, quicker, cheaper? 

 20 

MR DALE:   Yes, it would, but I think that does need to be balanced with other 

issues around ensuring that those developments are integrated into the 

wider community, and particularly ensuring that they do not unduly 

impact on the character and amenity of that neighbourhood. 

 25 

MR SAX:   My question in terms of what may be best practise, I am trying to 

grapple with what informs you of the view in recommendations 

whether it is 35 or 40 percent site cover, or whether it is 350 meters or 

190 meters. I am trying to understand where that information comes 

from.  Is it a tension between what Council proposes and is a haggle 30 

between those numbers, or is it a fresh look at it all and say the best 

practise to deliver effective, efficient delivery is this.  Can you help 

me? 

 

MR DALE:   For me, in terms of the 40 percent site coverage, that really was a 35 

reflection of what the current Operative City Plan provides for in those 

zones. 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 40 

SJH:   Thank you, Judge. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman.  Mr Dale, just a couple of 

questions thanks.  Now, can I ask you Ms Scott, I wanted to ask about 

this 40 percent coverage.  It was a matter which Mr Blair, I think, did 45 

make some concessions on in cross-examination, and if the Council’s 
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position was consistent with Mr Blair’s concessions, I do not need to 

ask the question. Do you know whether you have a position?  I am not 

wanting to put you on the spot. If you do not, just say so and I will ask 

him. 

 5 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, we withdrew our application to leave based on the 

concessions Mr Blair made on Tuesday, and also in the questioning of 

Ms McIntyre, Mr Blair’s position in terms of the 40 percent site 

coverage is related to the single storey, and that is correct sir. 

 10 

SJH:   The point is just a little bit wider, so we can avoid recalling Mr Blair, if 

we do not need to. The concessions he made are accepted by the 

Council? 

 

MS SCOTT:   That is correct sir, sorry. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is fine, well I only need to concentrate on one matter 

Mr Dale.  If you could go to paragraph 4.5 of your evidence and I will 

ask Mr Lanman (ph 3.55) to put up Exhibit #1 of the Crown’s exhibit 

again, that map.  Just so, Mr Commons I think, in answer to my 20 

questions from the chair in regard to areas that the Corporation has 

particular interest in and areas that were priorities if infrastructure 

constrains preclude development in others, and we went around this 

map and we discussed the Shirley area, the upturned boot, if you like.  I 

think he mentioned Aranui and Linwood.  He mentioned Riccarton and 25 

he mentioned, towards the end, Addington. So looking at those 

particular red dot areas around the map, your paragraph 4.5 as to the 

issue of the capacity of the notified RMD zones, and any further 

consideration to their extension. 

 30 

  [11.10 am] 

 

 Bearing in mind the locational criteria which the Crown and the 

Council, in a sense, have essentially settled between them is 

appropriate, looking at those areas, first of all, my understanding is that 35 

in each case there are reasonable shopping centre options in different 

areas. They may not be key activity centres but they provide a 

reasonable range of services to residents. Is that right? Within 

reasonable walking distance. 

 40 

MR DALE:   There will be a various scale of what those centres contain, but 

my understanding is that certainly the concentrated areas are generally 

within reasonable proximity to some form of supporting services. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if you were thinking of criteria that might need to be 45 

modified somewhat, well first of all, I suppose the question is this: If 
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one was to extend into those areas, one would need to look at the 

locational criteria and provide some qualification to it for social 

housing, is that right? 

 

MR DALE:   Yes, I would agree with that. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you think you would be in the position, if not now, at 

some point very soon, to describe the locational criterion in regard to 

proximity to shopping centres? 

 10 

MR DALE:   Yes, I could certainly assist with that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I take it that in each case, there would be a reasonable 

walking distance to public transport? 

 15 

MR DALE:   My understanding of the public transport network within 

Christchurch is that it does cover pretty much the entire city within a 

reasonable walking distance. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And again, you would be in a position to describe what 20 

that criterion should sensibly be? 

 

MR DALE:   I could assist with that.  I think it does require some urban design 

input into that, because I think appropriate walking distances to 

services is partly an urban design consideration. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is there anything further you might comment on in regard 

to criteria? If not, that is fine, but if so, just do so now. 

 

MR DALE:   No, sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising, Ms Semple? 

 35 

MS SEMPLE:   No, thank you sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Dale. You may stand down. 

 

MR DALE:   Thank you. 40 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.12 am] 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, sir.  That concludes case for the Corporation. 

 45 

SJH:   Yes, you may be excused, Ms Semple. 
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MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Radich, Ms Legarth. 

 5 

MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you sir.  Call Yvonne Legarth. 

 

<YVONNE LEGARTH, affirmed  [11.12 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [11.12 am] 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you. Now, your full name is Yvonne Mary Legarth and 

you are a Senior Advisor RMA with the Department of Corrections? 

 5 

MS LEGARTH:   Yes, correct. 

 

MR RADICH:   And you have prepared a statement of evidence dated 20 

March 2015? 

 10 

MS LEGARTH:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Do you wish to make any corrections to it? 

 

MS LEGARTH:   Yes, sir.  There are two corrections.  On page 4 at paragraph 15 

4.1 there is, delete the word ‘is.’ 

 

MR RADICH:   Delete the word ‘is.’ Can you show us which line that is in, 

please?  Oh, I see, yes, second to bottom line? 

 20 

MS LEGARTH:   That is right. 

 

MR RADICH:   Notified (INDISTINCT 3.32).  Delete ‘is’ thank you. 

 

MS LEGARTH:   And on page 11 in heading 2, section 10, Ferrymead is 25 

misspelled and correct it to be F-E-R-R-Y-M-E-A-D. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you very much. Which those things corrected, you 

confirm your evidence to be true and correct? 

 30 

MS LEGARTH:   I do. 

 

MS RADICH:   Thank you. Would you please now provide a summary for the 

panel? 

 35 

MS LEGARTH:   Good morning.  My evidence deals primarily with the rules 

of proposal 14 and the lack of certainty for locating community 

Corrections facilities in the residential zone. In my opinion, the 

Replacement Plan should be amended to provide more certainty for 

Corrections facilities in the district and within the provisions of 40 

proposal 14 that addressed non-residential activities in the residential 

zone.  

 

 My evidence relies on the evidence of Ms Lisa Taitua for the 

Department of Corrections. There is a resource management issue 45 

associated with public safety and community wellbeing.  That issue can 
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be addressed by amending the Replacement Plan to recognise the roles 

that community Corrections facilities play in the community by 

providing services that deliver community based sentences.  

 

 The Replacement Plan, as notified, had no specific provision for 5 

community Corrections facilities. This omission meant that those 

facilities default to the non-complying zone under non-residential 

activities.  The non-complying activity status does not take into account 

non-residential facilities where the effects of those activities can be 

adequately managed by the requirement to meet the built form 10 

standards that apply to every other activity within the zone. 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 

 When located in a residential area, community corrections facilities can 15 

be designed to comply with the built form standards and the potential 

effects can be managed by including standards over signage and hours 

of operation. 

 

 I considered the statutory planning framework that applies to the 20 

Crown’s revised objectives and policies for non-residential activities in 

a residential zone when I prepared my evidence, but Ms Vicki Barker 

dealt with those so I have not gone into that in any detail.  

 

 I support the inclusion of the amendments in her evidence-in-chief, but 25 

I understand there has been discussions with the Council since then, I 

have not been a party to those so I have not commented on them. 

 

 Under the rules, in my evidence, I proposed new rules be inserted into 

the permitted activity table under rules 40.2.2, 43.2.1. 44.2.1, 45.2.1 30 

and 46.2.1 to provide for community corrections facilities if permitted 

activity subject to the compliance with standards controlling signage 

and hours of operation and also the built form (INDISTINCT 1.23.9). 

 

 Mr Blair for the Council, attached a revised version of the proposal 14 35 

to his rebuttal evidence, that is dated 26 March, and that version marks 

the changes that were sought in my evidence-in-chief and also makes 

consequential changes to the restricted discretionary activity rules and I 

support the changes to those rules. 

 40 

 I understand Ms Barker also dealt with the discretionary activity rule 

issue, so I have not gone into that. 

 

 Under the definitions, a revised – this is to support the rule – a revised 

definition of community facility and new corrections facilities as set 45 

out in my evidence and were incorporated into the Council’s first 
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revised version, Proposal 14 dated 9 March. 

 

 I support the 9 March version in the definition.  In the next version of 

Proposal 14 dated 26 March, Mr Blair proposed that additional wording 

be added to the definition of community corrections facilities, to clarify 5 

that periodic detention centres are not included in the definition.   

 

 I consider that that wording is not needed because a new definition for 

corrections facilities is already limited to long custodial activities and 

the permitted activity rule standard limiting operating hours, prevents 10 

the use of the facility for overnight custodial activities. 

 

 The amendments to the permitted activity rules with consequential 

changes to the rules and new definitions for community facilities and 

community directions facilities is included in the Council’s initial 15 

revised draft of Proposal 14 dated 9 March 2015, provides greater 

certainty because the community corrections facilities expressly 

provided for in the Plan and based on the evidence of Ms 

(INDISTINCT 3.06.08) consider those changes are appropriate to 

reflect the importance of such facilities to the community. 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I have no questions thank you, sir. 

 25 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I have no questions, thank you very much. 

 

SJH: Mr Sax? 30 

 

MR SAX:   No questions, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No Mr Chairman. 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you very much, you may stand down and you are released. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, your Honour. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.18 am] 40 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Scott, we come to Mr Gregory. 
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MS SCOTT:   Thank you, I now call Christopher Gregory. 

 

<CHRISTOPHER MICHAEL EDWARD GREGORY, affirmed[11.18 am] 

5 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [11.19 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  Your full name is Christopher Michael Edward 

Gregory? 

 5 

MR GREGORY:   It is.  

 

MS SCOTT:   And you are the Assets and Networks Unit Manager at the 

Council and prior to that you were the Infrastructure Assets Manager at 

the Council? 10 

 

MR GREGORY:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have any corrections to make to your rebuttal evidence 

dated 25 March? 15 

 

MR GREGORY:   I do.  As a matter of reference to the Local Government Act 

and it is at section 3.7 of my evidence, (INDISTINCT 4.42.1) point 1 

D.  I would like to correct that, that is from an earlier version of the 

Local Government Act unfortunately, and it should really read 3.1, or 20 

3(1).  It refers to 3.(1) refers to the same matters but just in a different 

format. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you.  With that correction, can you confirm that 

your evidence is true and correct? 25 

 

MR GREGORY:   It is. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, if you could provide a summary for the Hearings 

Panel and then answer any questions. 30 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 

MR GREGORY:   Good morning.  As you have heard, my name is Chris 

Gregory and I am the Assets and Networks Unit Manager at the 35 

Council. 

 

 I have prepared this rebuttal evidence in terms of Rob Rouse, submitted 

of behalf of CERA and Paul Collins on behalf of Housing New 

Zealand.   40 

 

 They both raised issues in their evidence relating to horizontal 

infrastructure provision to meet service demand arising out of a 

development and redevelopment. 

 45 

 The key aspects of my rebuttal are as follows: 
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 The Council is obliged by the Local Government Act 2002 to 

undertake a process every three years that provides a 10 year plan for 

Council expenditure on services and activities and this is called the 

long term plan. 5 

 

 This process is required to provide efficient and effective investment in 

infrastructure that is affordable and also gains community support 

through consultation, and it is appropriate to present and anticipated 

future circumstances. 10 

 

 The Council is now also required under the Local Government Act 

Amendments last August, to prepare a 30 year infrastructure strategy, 

and this is for its core infrastructure being water, wastewater, roads and 

footpaths and flood protection. 15 

 

 This strategy is identified but the earthquake legacy and urban 

development are two of the key emerging issues for Council to address 

over that 30 year timeframe.   

 20 

 The Council uses computer models to monitor the performance of its 

core horizontal infrastructure networks and the available capacity.  

These models are then used to prepare upgrade programmes, to inform 

that long term plan, and to do this they are updated with assumptions 

around anticipated growth based upon the Land Use Recovery Plan and 25 

other information.  The models are also used to review the ability of the 

networks to provide for development proposals as development occurs.  

 

 The current horizontal infrastructure is unable to provide for the full 

development potential of the proposed district plan zoning as it has 30 

largely being installed in phases over the past 60 to 70 years and prior 

to the current densities being envisaged. 

 

 Typically, horizontal infrastructure elements have a useful life of 60 to 

100 years, and therefore it is more efficient to upgrade capacity in parts 35 

of the network that are nearing the end of their useful life to provide for 

growth, rather than those areas that have been installed more recently. 

 

 Hence, infrastructure consideration should go hand in hand with the 

release of zones for intensification or greenfield development to be 40 

both efficient and effective as required by the Local Government Act. 

 

 Significant changes to the planned upgrade programme can be and are 

undertaken to address the actual growth patterns as they unfold, but 

again this is subject to a process required by the Local Government Act 45 

through annual planning or the three yearly long term plan cycle. 
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 As the lead times for planning investigation, design and procurement of 

major infrastructure upgrades commonly exceed one year, it is essential 

that early interaction with the development community occurs to enable 

timely upgrades and the Local Government Act process to occur. 5 

 

 As an example of that, Council has been in discussion with Housing 

New Zealand for some time around its plans and this has more recently 

taken some steps forward, as you have heard this morning.  And we 

have a further meeting on 28 April between the parties at which we 10 

expect to gain more clarity around their plans, Housing Zealand, to 

enable our detailed modelling to occur and those discussions to 

continue around capacity. 

 

 Thank you. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Radich. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [11.24 am] 

 20 

MR RADICH:   Thank you.  Mr Gregory, I just want to be clear about an 

aspect of your evidence.  You refer, and you have explained just now to 

the Council following the LTP process as under the Local Government 

Act, and you have spoken about the 30 year infrastructure, and you 

have quoted in paragraph 3.10, the need from that document, the 25 

strategy document, for the Council to be agile to address changing 

needs. 

 

 Do you see that in the paragraph you have quoted there? 

 30 

MR GREGORY:   I do. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes.  And as a part of that agility, is it the case that you need 

to be very clear about the trends that are taking place in the district, 

possible up zoning, possible intensification, possible greenfields, you 35 

need a broad understanding of that to be agile. 

 

  [11.25 am] 

 

MR GREGORY:   That is true. 40 

 

MR RADICH:   And you have said along these lines in your paragraph 3.18 

that there is flexibility provided through the LTP and your annual plans 

to change infrastructure delivery and I presume you mean by that in 

order to be agile, as you say? 45 

 



 Page 493 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

MR GREGORY:   That is correct, the long-term plan has two aspects when we 

do our modelling to inform the 10 year plan there are some major 

upgrades and the Panel has heard about the Riccarton (INDISTINCT 

0.42) sewer project and major upgrade to provide for growth in that 

area but there is also another range of projects that are smaller in nature 5 

and we fund those at a macro level not associated with two particular 

projects so as an example in the current plan, over 10 years we had 

something like 123 million or so to provide for growth in the sewage 

network, of that around 40 million dollars is uncommitted at this stage 

so it shows our budget some year on year that we can utilise through 10 

our discussions with developers and people that are providing for 

redevelopment to look at the year ahead and address any capacity 

upgrades as they arise through that knowledge.   

 

MR RADICH:   That is helpful.  You mentioned in your summary that the 15 

current infrastructure is unable to cope with the proposed zoning, am I 

right in understanding your comment? 

 

MR GREGORY:   That is from the point that obviously the zoning in the 

district plan allows for an ultimate density and that then 20 

(INDISTINCT 1.55) converts obviously to a population growth that is 

going to happen over a long period of time as I said the network that 

we are working with, the current network has been built in phases over 

the last 60-70 years and as such to make the most practical use of that 

and efficient use of that we would only upgrade that in preference as it 25 

goes to the end of its existing life and require 1) replacement because 

its life expired and 2) to give us the ability in that replacement to 

provide additional capacity so that way we would sequence through a 

long period of time. 

 30 

MR RADICH:   So the agility that we were talking about before is such that 

you could, as zoning opportunities are taken up by developers for 

example, you could prioritise infrastructure provision to match? 

 

MR GREGORY:   We could, but with the proviso that we need enough notice 35 

and awareness of that to enable the process for planning and designing 

and putting the facilities in place for that work. 

 

MR RADICH:   And finally, what is your understanding of the involvement of 

the Council with the Crown in setting the LURP, 23,700 new dwelling 40 

limits? 

 

MR GREGORY:   I am afraid I have not been involved with the Crown in the 

setting of the LURP as I have said in my evidence I was only in this 

position for about four or five months now and so I was not involved in 45 

that process so I am not aware of how it occurred, just the outcome. 
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MR RADICH:   Thank you very much, no further questions Your Honour, 

thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 5 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, good morning, Mr Gregory, just one 

question.  The SCIRT work that is going on at the moment has been 

described to us that that is essentially repairing infrastructure to a 

capacity and standard that existed pre-earthquake.  To what extent is 10 

the future planning that the Council would be doing in a planned 

growth sense being incorporated into that SCIRT work?   

 

 In other words, are there opportunities being taken to say when the 

roads have been dug up and the infrastructure has been replaced, even 15 

though the SCIRT process is only putting in a pipe of a particular size, 

is that being future proofed to some degree in parallel with that process 

or is that going to be dealt with separately? 

 

MR GREGORY:   There have been a few occasions where betterment in terms 20 

of providing additional capacity in the SCIRT programme addresses a 

particularly failed pipe but they are very few, the consideration of those 

goes through a business case process and the SCIRT government’s 

Panel looks at those but there are relatively few of those that have 

occurred over the period of the SCIRT programme to date.   25 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, thank you, sir.   

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions from me, thank you. 

 30 

SJH:   Mr Sax? 

 

MR SAX:   Yes, Mr Gregory, just a couple of questions.  Relating to the 30 

year modelling, how much account or how do you determine the whole 

aspects of sustainability, other uses of utilities whether this be 35 

discharging the stormwater to aquifer or taking (INDISTINCT 5.07) 

water from aquifer, new generation waste processing and so on, how do 

you model that because if you are encouraging on one hand as a 

sustainable city and so on, what do you do? 

 40 

MR GREGORY:   In answer to that in terms of the modelling parameters, that 

is not a direct consideration and the models have to reflect the total 

population that is envisaged over the 30 year period and they are the 

inputs to the model, however, it is frequently the case that particularly 

with larger developments, those alternatives that you talk about so 45 

soakage to ground or something like that in the stormwater system can 
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emanate and we would certainly encourage that where it is feasible in 

discussions with those major developers but in terms of the modelling 

we basically have to forecast what might be considered to be the worst 

case scenario if that was not feasible, what capacity would we have to 

provide in our pipe networks and our roads. 5 

 

MR SAX:   Being a foreigner from Auckland, just help me a little in terms of 

under the Local Government Act there is a requirement for 

transparency so are there clear signals to developers in Christchurch or 

people like Housing New Zealand of saying here are your options, you 10 

can avoid the development levies by adopting these solutions so they 

can do their own cost justification, is there processing that gives clarity 

of that? 

 

MR GREGORY:   I am not aware of that process or the clarity it might provide 15 

personally. 

 

MR SAX:   Good, thank you, no further questions.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman, just a couple of questions for 20 

clarification, Mr Gregory.  In your oral summary before you referred to 

discussions that had been happening with the Housing New Zealand 

corporation and an intended meeting on 28 April as a follow up and I 

think your comment was in order to allow detailed modelling to occur 

and decisions to be made regarding capacity.  Does the delegation of 25 

decision making in the Council mean that you would be the decision 

maker on the application of funding in regard to those discussions?  

Are you in a position to answer that? 

 

MR GREGORY:   I am.  So within the bounds of the long-term plan, it would 30 

be governed by the financial delegations to various offices but within 

those programmes that are uncommitted to particular projects so the 40 

million dollars that I referred to earlier then there is delegated authority 

to develop those programmes each year so we look at what is required 

in the coming year and the detail around that programme and then 35 

within those financial delegations we can tick off that that is the 

programme at work in terms of actually letting the contracts for those 

works then I personally have a delegation authority of $100,000 and so 

on and it steps up through the organisation but within the organisation 

we do have the ability to be flexible within those funds that are 40 

provided in a general sense to provide for the works that arise during 

any particular year. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just want to put exhibit #1 on the screen, please.  Now, 

let me know if you are not in a position to comment on any of this but 45 

from Mr Commons we heard about Housing New Zealand potential 
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proprieties for development and in that discussion he mentioned some 

areas which I will quickly summarise: the upturn boot, the Shirley area, 

Aranui, Linwood, the Riccarton area and the Addington area.  Are you 

in a position to let me know whether there would be a need for 

anything by way of infrastructure upgrading in all of those areas or 5 

some in order to facilitate intensification for social housing needs? 

 

MR GREGORY:   I am not in a position to give specific answers to those areas 

but more in a general sense and the Panel would have seen in 

Ms O’Brien’s evidence from earlier in the week - - - 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, which we have got, thank you. 

 

MR GREGORY:   The main constraint in most of those areas is regarding to 

sewage and the impact of additional load on those sewage networks 15 

causing overflows in the system and I believe Ms O’Brien has 

commented about the percentage of impacts they might have.  Again, 

as we get better information from Housing New Zealand as to the scale 

of their plans and exactly where, we can then target funds that we have 

assigned to deal with sewerage overflows und upgrading the network to 20 

one, prevent overflows, but also at the same time, provide for growth. 

We would be able to target the areas that are identified in Housing New 

Zealand’s plans, but we do need to get that clarity of the timeframe and 

the program that Housing New Zealand proposed so that we can have 

those discussions with them about the most efficient use of the money 25 

that we have available to provide those upgrades in alignment with 

Housing New Zealand’s plans. 

 

  [11.35 am] 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you have any sense of whether the amount of 

discretionary spend available under delegation could go some way or a 

significant way towards addressing infrastructure in those areas if 

necessary? 

 35 

MR GREGORY:   I guess my answer to that there is twofold. As I said earlier, 

there are the minor upgrades. If we found that only minor upgrades 

were required, that is feasible. If major upgrades were required, then 

we have the ability through the LTP process to take on a three-yearly 

cycle, something that the proposal back to Council in the next LTP in 40 

2018. For an upgrade that would be beyond those budgets, we can do 

that on an annual basis if we really need to, but normally it would be on 

a three-yearly cycle. Again, that normally aligns with the timeframe 

that developers require to get, particularly greenfields developments on 

the ground. I know we are not talking about greenfields here. 45 

Intensification may be a different issues but it would really require the 
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detailed modelling by the people that do that, to identify exactly what 

the scale of the upgrade is required. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and so the extent of information on what is required 

and so forth, again, it goes back to Ms O’Brien’s evidence. You cannot 5 

add to that? 

 

MR GREGORY:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 10 

 

SJH:   Mr Gregory, I think it is now a given that social housing stock took a 

bigger hit in the earthquake than virtually any other. Both the Councils 

and Housing Corporation, and you would have heard the evidence this 

morning of 97 percent. The Council has been going through this long-15 

term planning process at the moment. The other comment I would 

make that councillors are clearly aware of the problem with social 

housing because we repeatedly read in The Press that that is something 

they want to do something about. So were the councillors advised that 

there were any capacity constraints to the rebuild, and promotion of 20 

social housing as part of the long-term plan? Is there a report given to 

them that we could see, for example? 

 

MR GREGORY:   Not that I am aware of, but that does not mean to say such a 

document does not exist. 25 

 

SJH:   Well, I thought we were going to get the answers to these questions, but 

obviously you cannot. Perhaps you can answer this one: Has there been 

any work around prioritising upgrade of infrastructure for social 

housing needs? Do you know? 30 

 

MR GREGORY:   The answer to that is in terms of the work we have done for 

this LTP, not specifically for social housing needs, but from the 

modelling that we have used to provide for the programs in the LT has 

generally taken, because we work at a network level, the areas of the 35 

city that we know are developing, particularly in the southwest and the 

north, and allocating funds to upgrade the growth issues in those two 

current areas that are being developed, but not specifically for social 

housing, no. 

 40 

SJH:   The LTPs are always influenced by consultation, submissions made to 

councillors. The reality is, in the social housing areas, there is a lesser 

ability to fend for themselves by the very nature of them, is there not? 

So who is speaking out for them at Council? 

 45 

MR GREGORY:   I cannot comment about the submissions that we may 
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receive from external parties as part of the LTP, however internally 

within the Council process, we do have the ability ourselves to make a 

submission, as a start submission, and based on the discussions we will 

have with Housing New Zealand over the coming weeks, we would be 

in a position to make some recommendations to Council as part of this 5 

current draft LTP. 

 

  [11.40 am] 

 

SJH:   Okay, and assuming that you can resolve these matters and get the 10 

clarity you seek from Housing New Zealand within these next few 

weeks, when is the timeframe for upgrading of this sort of 

infrastructure to start? In other words, how soon can these areas be 

zoned without the constraint? 

 15 

MR GREGORY:   I guess there is two sides to it. If they are minor upgrades, 

so if it is just a small problem in a local - - -  

 

SJH:   Well, give us the two numbers so we know, either way. 

 20 

MR GREGORY:   I do not have the specific numbers. 

 

SJH:   Just a ballpark figure is fine. 

 

MR GREGORY:   If we are talking in terms of upgrades that are short, they are 25 

in the order of $200,000-300,000, $500,000, and that can be organised 

for the coming financial year and would be in place within nine to 12 

months. 

 

SJH:   A major upgrade? 30 

 

MR GREGORY:   A major upgrade, depending on whether we would need 

some form of resource consent, maybe for discharge to air if it required 

an odour field, but usually the major upgrades, you are looking at a two 

to three year lead cycle to the point of having something in place and 35 

running, ready to provide that capacity. 

 

SJH:   Thank you for that. 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you Mr Chairman. Mr Gregory, just to help me again from 40 

being out of town, a lot of the consents that are required require 

consents from Environment Canterbury but I have noticed on 

discharge, water tank etcetera, how is that working relationship and is 

there an impediment in the process to delaying the effective delivery of 

infrastructure? 45 
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MR GREGORY:   The relationship is good and I think the panel is aware that 

currently we are operating under agreement with Environment 

Canterbury in terms of the existing sewerage overflows, so we can 

work closely and do work closely with Environment Canterbury on 

those issues. 5 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising, Ms Scott? 

 10 

MS SCOTT:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you Mr Gregory, you may stand down and you may be excused. 

Dr Humphrey, we are just going to take a short because we have been 

going since 9.30 am, a short five minute break, and then we will come 15 

straight back to your evidence. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.42 am] 

 

ADJOURNED [11.42 pm] 20 

 

RESUMED [11.49 am] 

 

<ALISTAIR ROSS GORDON HUMPHREY, affirmed [11.50 am] 

25 
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SJH:   Your full name is Alistair Ross Gordon Humphrey? 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   It is. 

 

SJH:   And you are the Medical Officer of Health for Canterbury? 5 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   That is right. 

 

SJH:   And you have supplied us with a written statement and you confirm that 

is correct, or do you wish to make any corrections to it? 10 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   I do not wish to make any corrections. 

 

SJH:   All right, well thank you, Dr Humphrey. 

 15 

 You are the Medical Officer of Health for Canterbury? 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   I am. 

 

SJH:   Yes.  There was just a confusion for the record, I understood you to say 20 

it, but apparently you said ‘sorry’. 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   No, I did not, and I am also the Public Health Physician 

with the Canterbury District Health Board which is a separate role. 

 25 

SJH:   Yes.  And in both of those roles you are submitting on behalf of the 

Health Board? 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   No as a Public Health Physician, I am submitting. 

 30 

SJH:   On behalf of the Health Board? 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Okay, well if you just go ahead and give us your summary of your 35 

evidence and we will see if the Panel have any questions for you, thank 

you. 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   So in summary, there is three main issues in my evidence.  

The first pertains to general practices and we have asked that general 40 

practices be allowed up to 300 square metres in residential zones 

should they wish to be there, on the basis that we have done a survey of 

local general practices, looked at their average size and 200 metres 

squared would not accommodate most of the general practices in 

Christchurch at the moment, so to be reasonable we put that up to 300 45 

square metres, and I understand the City Council has agreed with that. 
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 With respect to the second point, it is with respect to integrated family 

health centres.  This is a relatively new concept but for the purposes of 

envisaging something like this, it would be something like the 24 hour 

surgery, with additional services such as pharmacy which of course a 5 

24 hour surgery has, but it may have physios and others associated with 

it, so they are a larger premise and we have asked that they be allowed 

up to 850 square metres in order to accommodate the integrated service 

that they plan to provide as a restricted discretionary activity. 

 10 

 We have asked – there was some suggestion would they or would they 

not have what was described as ‘sleeping quarters’.  We would ask that 

they do have what some people perceive as ‘sleeping quarters’, but as a 

general practitioner who works in a 24 hour surgery, I can tell you that 

acute care delivered in this kind of centre is not for sleeping.  It is not 15 

like, for example, a hospital where you might be brought in the night 

before for an operation. 

 

 The point being that I think there was a perception that people might 

complain of noise or something, something like that, if they were 20 

brought in to such a centre, because they could not get any sleep.  In a 

place like the 24 hour surgery, people are kept in for what we call acute 

care and it is to keep an eye on them, it reduces our costs, that is to the 

District Health Board considerably, if primary care can monitor 

patients in that way, and we are certainly leading New Zealand in that 25 

area and possibly the world, in the way that we have moved potential 

care in hospital into primary care. 

 

 So it is not sleeping, it is about acute care but it is a bed, so it might be 

perceived as a sleeping area, but we would ask that those be allowed to 30 

be included. 

 

 And then the third point, we have asked that the Plan should promote 

and incentivise residential properties to accommodate peoples’ health, 

physical need and life stages.  We have an aging population.  Our aging 35 

population can be a resource to our community, or it can be a burden to 

our community.  We want to live in a province where our elderly folk 

are a resource. 

 

 In order to help them to be a resource, they need to have the kind of 40 

residential property which accommodates their changing life stages, so 

in some cases doors might need to be wider and other such things to 

accommodate elderly people. 
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  [11.55 am] 

 

 The second part of that is we also asked that residential buildings 

should be promoted and incentivised to be energy and water efficient.  

We want to live in a sustainable city and we think it is important that 5 

we do not just keep our fingers crossed and hope it happens, we would 

like to see a sustainable city actually incentivised by the Plan.   

 

 There is a fourth minor point which was that we agree that transport 

issues should be dealt with wholly in chapter seven and not be alluded 10 

to in this particular chapter, and the Council agrees with it on that as 

well.  So there are three points, general practices, integrated family 

health centres and promoting and incentivising life stage and health 

from residential property, and energy and water efficiency in our 

residential properties. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, that is clear, I have no questions, thank you, sir. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Just one question, Dr Humphrey, have you seen the variation 

from the mediated policy on sustainable buildings put forth by the 

Crown and Ms McIntyre? 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   I have heard about it, was there something specific you 25 

wanted to ask me? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, I was just wondering whether you had a comment on 

that, whether you felt it met the ends that the CDHB was seeking? 

 30 

DR HUMPHREY:   We have the paper which I have looked at which we have 

agreed with, there are statements from Graeme McIndoe and I think he 

goes a little bit further than those comments.  So we have examples of 

ways in which life stages can be addressed from other parts of the 

world, for example, I understand Melbourne has specific percentages 35 

depending on the size of the development as to how many residential 

buildings should meet a particular standard whether it is life mark or 

any other standard you want to choose.   

 

 We feel that I think Graeme McIndoe has suggested 10 percent, we 40 

would want at least 10 percent.  We are going to have an increasingly 

elderly population and we have to decide now whether we want those 

people to be part of the production of our community or whether we 

want them to be sitting in residential homes and not being productive.  

We want, that is, the District Health Board want these people to be 45 

cared for in a home where they can continue to function, which means 
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we do need to in some way incentivise the kind of home that people at 

all stages of their life can live in and indeed other people who may have 

disabilities who have much to offer should be provided with residential 

property that they can stay in in a healthy way and not have repeated 

problems and be in and out of hospital or other facilities. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax? 

 10 

MR SAX:   Yes, good morning, just a couple of questions trying to extend on 

the vision perhaps a little more.  So would this be akin to perhaps what 

we might normally see in a retirement village but far more integrated 

into the community -  so it might have centres that monitor, manage 

and check on elderly, it could have, perhaps, cafes integrated into that 15 

community so they can easily access that, perhaps day care, maybe not 

an estate day care but the elderly can integrate with the grandkids who 

visit or other children, be it in social housing communities or other 

housing, is that sort of your thinking? 

 20 

DR HUMPHREY:   That sounds like a very good vision.  I think that probably 

goes a bit beyond what we are talking about, we are really talking about 

units that are designed to be as accessible and as usable as possible by 

people in all stages of their life. So you may include some kind of 

support that possibly could be added if necessary but in the first case 25 

we would want a house where somebody could live independently 

without necessarily having care there but without having to deal with 

steps where they might fall, for example, which becomes a burden on 

the taxpayer through the District Health Board.   

 30 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

 We want homes that people can get in and out of easily that are warm 

and dry, as they need to be for everybody, but particularly for elderly 

people, and that have appropriate, if you like, I call it occupational 35 

health input but it is things like rails in the right place and that kind of 

thing. 

 

MR SAX:   So if your team was to be aspirational, do you think it would be 

helpful if those sort of considerations were taken on board and 40 

embedded in a plan as a permitted activity to actually encourage 

members of the generation of that sort of social engagement, social 

construct, in addition to the physical construct? 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   I do, I think the way you have put it is excellent.  It would 45 

be really nice to instead of moving people into rest homes is to think of 
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it as let us have these kind of facilities integrated into all our 

developments, our residential developments, we do not need to push 

somebody of a certain age out to somewhere else, they can continue to 

live in the appropriate kind of residential property with everybody else. 

 5 

MR SAX:   Can I just move now to a question, I know it is not in your 

submissions but particularly to utilities. You did mention about 

efficiency, water use and so on, I just want to ask you a question on the 

health sides of that. Taking potable water, there are health 

complications with New Zealand drinking water standards and so on, 10 

there has been little dealt with in New Zealand regarding effluent 

processing, but there is some very good combined cycle sanitary 

sterilised processing systems now that effluent integrate into green 

spaces, community gardens and so on, do you have a view on the 

health aspects of encouraging sustainability alternatives and more 15 

efficient infrastructure provision to communities? 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   Yes, I do, I would probably best give you an example 

from a residential perspective.  There are parts of the world where you 

pay for your water as it comes in and as it goes out of your property as 20 

well with very good reason. We, as a public health physician, we 

regularly have to put out warnings about the quality of our recreational 

water which is affected by heavy rainfall.   

 

 We also are concerned about precious aquifers and we know that the 25 

garden city uses 50 percent more water than other cities, and most of it 

goes on our gardens.  It would be nice to see that residential properties 

had a way of retaining at the very least rainwater run-off that protects 

our rivers because it reduces contamination of our rivers, it protects our 

stormwater system, it provides households with an emergency supply 30 

of water as well, but more importantly it also provides them with a 

supply of water for which they can water their beloved gardens without 

tapping into our aquifer, which albeit though many people consider it a 

limitless resource it is something that we should perhaps treat with a 

little more respect. 35 

 

MR SAX:   So in the same context, quite a bit of Christchurch has great 

capacity to recharge to aquifer so if there is a far more intentional 

policy of recharging to aquifer that would achieve a similar objective in 

part? 40 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   It would in part, yes, but that does not necessarily deal 

with the stormwater run-off into our rivers. 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you, Dr Humphrey.   45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman.  Now, Dr Humphrey I have just 

got a couple of questions. I sort of take an important theory of your 

evidence being in terms of the elderly and the growing elderly 

component of our population this issue of accommodating changing 

life needs and so that they can be a resource rather than a burden.  And 5 

it seems to me that we have got now the concept of retirement villages 

well embedded in our communities but perhaps your evidence is 

putting a big question mark over that as being whether or not that is an 

adequate response in terms of elderly.  So my question is about how we 

might go a bit further in that area.   10 

 

 If we take, for instance, what I might call the pavlova paradise suburbs 

of Christchurch, if we look at the lights - - - 

 

 15 

  [12.05 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - go a bit further in that area.  If we take, for instance, 

what I might call the pavlova paradise suburbs of Christchurch, if we 

look at the likes of the Fendalton’s and the Riccarton’s, and Riccarton 20 

Bush and Strowan and all those places with the large, grand homes, 

with possibly very elderly people or people getting towards thinking 

what they are going to do in the next five years, I am wondering 

whether, in this question of intensification, something is missed from 

the equation.  25 

 

 I would like your thinking on this.  If we take a person thinking about 

that next stage of life, am I right to understand that one big issue in 

terms of their health and wellbeing is whether they would have to be 

alienated from their existing established communities or not by moving 30 

away from them to get to, say, a retirement village?  Is that an issue 

that we should be concerned about in terms of enabling elderly people 

to be the resource that contributes? 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   I think it is a very important issue.  I think many elderly 35 

people with a larger home want to downsize if they can, and we need to 

have a plan which accommodates those people in their changing life 

stage without pushing them away from their communities. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and a mechanism that would perhaps allow them the 40 

same quality of lifestyle they are used to, but on a smaller unit, perhaps 

as part of a comprehensive development in their neighbourhood, you 

think may serve a purpose in that regard? 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   As part of a development specifically, yes, maybe, but also 45 

if there were a proportion of units in any development that were 
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obligated or at least encouraged to provide the kind residential property 

that someone at that stage in their life would want to move into, that is 

another way of doing. So if I understand you, you are talking about 

either specific developments or specific residential properties inside 

broader development. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, to be very specific, we have got areas of the city 

identified for medium density and so forth, but if we were to also think 

about the capacity to go a bit further and allow for, say, the elderly 

person to move into a quality amalgamation, say, of titles producing a 10 

comprehensive development with small units but in their 

neighbourhood, whether or not we would be assisting or responding 

further to the needs of the elderly by giving them local neighbourhood 

facility opportunities, such as that within their neighbourhoods.   

 15 

 Take Fendalton, if for instance, there was an opportunity not to have to 

go to a residential high density or medium density area, to downscale 

but to go to their local neighbourhood because somebody has 

comprehensively developed a block next door or just up the road, is 

that materially of some help or not to their wellbeing? 20 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   I think that would be.  Yes, it would.  But what we have 

suggested is that rather than a specific development for elderly people 

which is essentially (INDISTINCT 3.36) that - - - it is integrated. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Integrated.  

 

DR HUMPHYREY:   It is integrated, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much. 30 

 

SJH:   Dr Humphrey, I just want to ask you a few questions to give this some, 

perhaps rightly, broader context, and I ask the questions not only as 

Chair but somebody who the society now places in the elderly group 

whether I like it or not, but I am not sure if you are aware, but I am also 35 

the Chair of the Canterbury Clinical Network which has been heavily 

involved in a lot of this work.  You talk about keeping people in the 

population. The position was, even before the earthquake, that 

Canterbury had a health crisis because of its disproportionately high 

number of elderly people in the community, number one, is that 40 

correct? 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   Crisis is a word that I try to avoid.  I do not think we were 

in a crisis.  We certainly recognised it as a district health board. 

 45 

SJH:   Planning and funding would certainly say it was a crisis. 
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DR HUMPHREY:   It certainly presents difficulties for us as a district health 

board. 

 

SJH:   I am not asking that. Let me start again.  Christchurch had a higher 5 

proportion of elderly than most other parts of New Zealand? 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   It does. 

 

SJH:   It also put people into care at a younger age than most other parts of 10 

Canterbury? 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   It used to. 

 

SJH:   And that is an enormous cost to the health system and to the community, 15 

and that lead to the work which I think was called Sooner, Better, More 

Convenient, which was a major process. That and other work at the 

same time? 

 

  [12.10 pm] 20 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   Sooner, Better, More Convenient was a national, central 

government concept. 

 

SJH:   Yes, but it was a specific Canterbury one, because they had to put in 25 

business cases. 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

SJH:  And they were not limited to the elderly.  But the point is, part of the aim 30 

of that was to keep the elderly in their own community, not just a 

community, which was a question of Judge Hassan’s, so that is the 

important thing, is it not? 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   It is, yes. 35 

 

SJH:   But also, as part of all of this consideration at a broader level, there was 

an aim to treat people in the community wherever possible. 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   That is correct. 40 

 

SJH:   Which has led to the integrated family health centre concepts? 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   In part, yes. 

 45 
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SJH:   And as well as the matters you spoke of, there is also an intention to 

carry out some day secondary care in those centres? 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   There could be, yes. 

 5 

SJH:   And there is an aspiration that they start to include, as well as the normal 

health professionals, doctors, nurses, pharmacists, physios, but also 

social agencies and such like, so you have got an incorporated package. 

 

DR HUMPHREY:  That is right. 10 

 

SJH:   Then just one final matter relating again to the answers you gave to 

Judge Hassan, there are a number of programs that are being developed 

or are developed to assist elderly people, like me, in their own 

premises, and one of the successful ones, for example, is the Falls 15 

Programme.  I am just really thinking on the hoof here a bit, is there 

some way in which we can incorporate into our housing stock a 

reference to these types of programmes? Because part of that involves 

some physical adjustments within a house, some of it is a way of 

coping with things, it is taught? 20 

 

DR HUMPHREY:   I understand there are a variety of different standards like 

life mark is one example of a standard that you can apply.  I think it 

would be a good idea to incorporate the things I talked about, which is 

essentially occupational health type components, so from a hospital 25 

perspective.  But it may be too complicated to have your OT, your 

Occupational Therapists working it out for the Council.  I think the 

Council would probably need a standard that they can easily refer to, 

but I agree that in principle, those concepts built into the Falls 

Programme should become, in a way, standard for a significant 30 

proportion of our housing stock.   

 

 The Falls Programme has been very successful.  It has prevented falls.  

It has saved the District Health Board money and prevented a lot of 

hospital admissions, but it is essentially a retrofitting service, and what 35 

we are suggesting is that those concepts, as you suggest, should be built 

in in some way into a new housing stock. 

 

SJH:   And elderly falls also frequently lead to premature death. 

 40 

DR HUMPHREY:   Of course, yes. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you very much, Dr Humphrey. You may stand down and 

you may be released. Thank you, we will adjourn until 10.00 am on 

Wednesday morning.  45 
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<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.14 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you everybody for your cooperation, and have a decent Easter 

break. 

 5 

MR RADICH:   Thank you very much, sir. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir. 

 
MATTER ADJOURNED AT 12.14 PM UNTIL 10 
WEDNESDAY, 8 APRIL 2015 


